

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIREFIGHTERS

LOCAL 1424

AND

THE CITY OF KEY WEST

OCTOBER 1, 2024 2025 to SEPTEMBER 30, 2025 2028

2025-2028 Tentative Agreement for Ratification

TABLE OF CONTENTS - [TBD]

ARTICLE 1	5
PREAMBLE	
ARTICLE 2.....	6
RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 3.....	7
EMPLOYER <u>MANAGEMENT</u> RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 4.....	8
STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS	
ARTICLE 5.....	9
PAYROLL DEDUCTION OF DUES	
ARTICLE 6.....	10
DISCRIMINATION	
ARTICLE 7.....	11
PREVAILING RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 8.....	12
LEGAL REPRESENTATION	
ARTICLE 9.....	13
TRAINING	
ARTICLE 10.....	14
BULLETIN BOARDS	
ARTICLE 11.....	15
SAFETY COMMITTEE	
ARTICLE 12.....	16
JOB PERFORMANCE	
ARTICLE 13.....	17
UNION BUSINESS	
ARTICLE 14.....	18
RULES AND REGULATIONS	
ARTICLE 15.....	19
CALL BACK PAY	

2025-2028 Tentative Agreement for Ratification

ARTICLE 16.....	20
WAGES AND ASSIGNMENT PAY	
ARTICLE 17.....	22
EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE	
ARTICLE 18.....	24
SICK AND ANNUAL LEAVE	
ARTICLE 19.....	26
WORKERS COMPENSATION	
ARTICLE 20.....	32
DEATH IN FAMILY	
ARTICLE 21.....	33
APPENDIXES AND AMENDMENTS	
ARTICLE 22.....	34
SAFETY AND HEALTH	
ARTICLE 23.....	35
DRUG TESTING	
ARTICLE 24.....	38
VACANCIES AND PROMOTIONS	
ARTICLE 25.....	41
PERSONNEL REDUCTION	
ARTICLE 26.....	42
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 27.....	44
FIREFIGHTERS PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLAN	
ARTICLE 28.....	45
INSURANCE	
ARTICLE 29.....	46
SAVINGS CLAUSE	
ARTICLE 30.....	47
HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	
ARTICLE 31.....	48
HOLIDAYS	

2025-2028 Tentative Agreement for Ratification

ARTICLE 32.....	49
ALLOWANCES	
ARTICLE 33.....	50
WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION	
ARTICLE 34.....	51
SPECIAL EVENTS/OFF-DUTY DETAILS	
ARTICLE 35.....	52
STAFFING	
ARTICLE 36.....	53
MAINTENANCE OF STATIONS	
ARTICLE 37.....	54
ADVISORY COMMITTEE	
ARTICLE 38.....	55
EXCEPTIONS TO AGREEMENTS	
ARTICLE 39.....	56
TERMS OF AGREEMENT	

ATTACHMENTS

- A JOB DESCRIPTIONS
- B STEP PLAN
- C DRUG FREE WORKPLACE POLICY

ARTICLE 1

PREAMBLE

This Agreement is entered into by and between the City of Key West, hereinafter referred to as the "City Employer" and Local #1424, International Association of Firefighters, hereinafter referred to as the "Union", upon ratification.

ARTICLE 2

RECOGNITION

The City recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining agent for all employees in the following bargaining unit:

INCLUDED: Firefighters, Drivers/Engineers, Rescue Lieutenant, Captains, Fire Inspectors, Shift Commanders

EXCLUDED: Fire Chief, Division Chiefs, ~~Secretaries~~ Administrative Assistants, Fire Marshal and all other City Employees.

ARTICLE 3

MANAGEMENT EMPLOYER RIGHTS

1. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement the ~~Employer~~ City, in the exercise of its functions of management, shall have the right to decide the policies, methods, safety rules, direction of employees, assignment of work, type of work, scope of services to be performed and the methods of services, equipment to be used in the operation of the City, rights to decide the number and location of Fire stations, headquarters, annexes, substations and/or divisions thereof, the schedule of work time, to determine the starting and quitting time and the number of hours to be worked, including the need for overtime work, to introduce new or improved services, maintenance, procedures, materials, facilities and equipment, to formulate job classifications, and the right to hire, discharge, suspend, discipline, promote, demote, ~~and transfer~~, layoff, rehire, and recall employees and to release such employees subject to the Civil Service Rules. The exercise of these rights by management shall not be used for the purpose of discrimination or injustice against members of the Union. The above rights of the ~~Employer~~ City indicate the type of matters or rights which belong to and are inherent to the ~~Employer~~ City in its capacity as management of the Fire Department of the City of Key West, Florida. Any of the rights, powers and authority the ~~Employer~~ City had prior to entering this collective bargaining agreement are retained by the ~~Employer~~ City, except as expressly and specifically abridged, delegated, granted or modified by this Agreement. Those inherent and common law management functions are prerogatives which the ~~Employer~~ City has not expressly modified or restricted by a specific provision of this Agreement are not in any way directly or indirectly, subject to the grievance procedure.
2. In event of disaster or other emergency situation, normal duties/schedules/procedures may be suspended as necessary, with the formal declaration of disaster or other emergency by the City, State or Federal government. The Fire Chief shall continue as head of Fire operations and the chain of command shall be maintained.
3. If the City fails to exercise any one or more of the above functions from time to time, this will not be deemed a waiver of the City 's right to exercise any or all such functions.
4. The exercise of management rights shall not preclude Employees or their representatives from raising grievances.

ARTICLE 4

STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

There will be no strikes, work stoppage, picket lines, slowdowns, boycotts, or concerted failure or refusal to perform assigned work by the Employees or the Association, and there will be no lockouts by the ~~Employer~~ City for the duration of this Agreement. The Union supports the ~~Employer~~ City fully in maintaining normal operations.

It is recognized by the parties that the ~~Employer~~ City is responsible for and engaged in activities which are the basis for the health and welfare of the citizens and that any violation of this section could give rise to irreparable damage to the City and the public at large. Accordingly, it is understood and agreed that in the event any violation of this section occurs, the ~~Employer~~ City shall be entitled to seek and obtain immediate injunctive relief, provided, however, it is agreed that the Union shall not be responsible for any act alleged to constitute a breach of this section if neither the Union nor any of its officers instigated, authorized, condoned, sanctioned or ratified such action; and further, that the Union and its officers have used every reasonable means to prevent or terminate such actions. (Picketing, as used in this article, shall be defined as picketing to support work stoppage.)

ARTICLE 5

PAYROLL DEDUCTION OF DUES

The ~~Employer~~ City agrees to deduct dues and assessments biweekly in an amount certified to be current by the Secretary-Treasurer of the local Union from the pay of those employees who individually request in writing that such deductions be made. The total amount of deductions shall be remitted by the ~~Employer~~ City to the Union Treasurer on a biweekly basis.

ARTICLE 6

DISCRIMINATION

The ~~Employer~~ City and the Union agree not to discriminate against any employee for his/her membership or non-membership in the Union.

ARTICLE 7

PREVAILING RIGHTS

All rights, privileges and working conditions uniformly and continuously enjoyed by all employees similarly situated shall be continued for the term of this Agreement. This Agreement shall not be construed to deprive any employee of benefits or protections granted by the laws of Florida, Ordinances of the City of Key West or Resolutions of the City Of Key West, in effect, but should not be construed to limit the Fire Chief from altering practices that could affect the safety of the Firefighters or citizens of Key West.

ARTICLE 8

LEGAL REPRESENTATION

The ~~Employer~~ City assumes all responsibility of legal representation, judgments and related expenses of employees involved in legal action arising out of employment while acting in the scope of their duties. When the City may legally do so, the City shall furnish to Bargaining Unit employees benefit of legal defense in accordance with Section 768.28 (5) and (9) of the Florida Statutes. No employee or agent of the City shall be held personally liable in tort for any injuries or damages suffered as a result of any act, event or omission of action in the scope of his/her employment function, unless such employee or agent acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, public safety or property.

ARTICLE 9

TRAINING

The Union will assist the Employer City in establishing training facilities in firefighting and other related courses, and the Employer City will assist the Union in establishing a library of educational firefighting material and a refresher course on EMT and EMT-P at least once a year.

The City will pay for a Paramedic course for and/or reimburse employees covered by this Agreement to take a Paramedic course, where provided the employee first provides notice and obtains written approval from the Fire Chief/designee to take the Paramedic course prior to starting the course program. Employee requests to receive coverage/reimbursement from the City to take a Paramedic course may be denied if the Fire Chief determines there is not a paramedic staffing need within the Fire Department. ~~paramedic staffing is needed as determined by management.~~ If the employee's request to take a Paramedic course is approved by the Fire Chief/designee, H half of the tuition for the course will be paid provided to the employee up front and the other half will be provided to the employee upon submission of proof to the City that the employee successfully completed ~~ion of the course and receipt of~~ received the Paramedic certification. Any employee provided such reimbursement must repay to the City 100% of ~~that reimbursement~~ the Paramedic course costs paid by the City if the employee does not receive his or her Paramedic certification or voluntarily leaves City employment within three (3) years of the date the employee was provided coverage up front for the tuition costs of the Paramedic course. ~~was paid the Paramedic certification reimbursement.~~ Depending on the balance of any money owed to the employee at the time the employee leaves City employment, some or all of the tuition reimbursement shall be deducted from the employee's final paycheck.

ARTICLE 10

BULLETIN BOARDS

The ~~Employer~~ City agrees to furnish the Union with a bulletin board for its exclusive use at each station. The Union guarantees no information or material will be posted if it is derogatory or of other improper nature. Should such information be posted, the employee responsible shall be subject to discipline. The ~~Employer~~ City shall notify the Union in writing prior to any changes of policies that affect personnel in the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 11

SAFETY COMMITTEE

The Union will appoint two (2) members to the City Safety Committee. The Safety Committee will meet no less than quarterly and discuss matters of safety that affect members of the bargaining unit. All recommendations of the Safety Committee shall be submitted to the City Manager and the City Commission. The City Manager will notify the Union in writing as to the actions taken in regard to such recommendations. The actions and recommendations of this committee shall be advisory only.

ARTICLE 12

JOB PERFORMANCE

Employees covered by this Agreement shall be required to perform fire-related duties as determined by the Fire Chief/designee, as indicated in the attached job descriptions (Attachment A). In emergency conditions and situations (such as hurricanes, flood, riot or similar situations), employees covered by this Agreement shall be required to perform any duties as determined and may be assigned by the City Manager, Fire Chief, or their designee.

The parties agree to form a Performance Evaluation Committee comprised of Union and City representatives, which shall meet to discuss the implementation of annual performance evaluations. The first meeting between the Committee shall be held within ninety (90) days after ratification of this 2025-2028 Agreement. The Committee shall thereafter continue to meet quarterly during the course of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 13

UNION BUSINESS

The Union shall provide the City with a list of all Union officers and designated employee representatives, with e-mail addresses, and shall notify the City to any changes to the list made by the Union.

The Union officers on the list shall be granted twenty (20) days cumulatively to perform Union functions. It will be incumbent upon the Union to give at least seven (7) days' notice to the Fire Chief or his/her Assistant, stating dates of absence, purpose and location of such meeting.

ARTICLE 14

RULES AND REGULATIONS

1. It is agreed and understood that the Fire Chief or designee may formulate, establish, revise, amend and implement rules and regulations. Any new/revised/amended language shall be provided to the Union President and Union counsel via electronic mail at least thirty (30) days, if practicable, but in no event less than twenty (20) days in advance of implementation. The Union may request negotiations to bargain any change with impacts mandatory subject of bargaining or elements of this Agreement or submit comments on the matter, in writing, to the City Manager, City Manager's designee, or as otherwise provided by City Charter within ten (10) days of such notice. If impact bargaining is requested, the proposed change shall not take effect for a period of thirty (30) days or completion of impact bargaining, whichever occurs first. When impact bargaining is requested, the City and the Union shall cooperate to expedite completion of the bargaining process.
2. Departmental rules and regulations, amendments/revisions thereto, approved by the Fire Chief, Fire Chief's designee, or as otherwise provided by Policy, shall automatically become and be considered a formal part of the Agreement. Whenever there is a conflict between the penalties imposed by City' policies and procedures and departmental rules and regulations, the strictest penalty will apply.

ARTICLE 15

CALL-BACK-PAY

All employees covered by the terms of the Agreement who are called back from off-duty, for any reason or purpose, shall be paid at the rate of time-and-a-half (1-1/2) and will be paid and may be required to work a minimum of four (4) hours.

Time will start when the employee reports to work. This provision does not apply to situations where the employee is called in early for their shift or held over after the end of the regular shift (i.e., contiguous service).

Hours paid as call-back that were not actual work hours will not be considered as hours worked for the purpose of computing overtime. In other words, while employees called back to work may be eligible to receive a minimum of four (4) hours of call-back-pay pursuant to this Article, only the actual time worked by the employee will count towards the computation of overtime.

ARTICLE 16

WAGES AND ASSIGNMENT PAY

The City and Association agree that the "Step Pay Plan" is incorporated in this Agreement and that this "Step Pay Plan" shall be valid for the duration of this Agreement only, subject to the following increases:

1. Effective October 1, 2024 2025, the step plan will increase by ~~6.0%~~ 5%
Effective October 1, 2026, the step plan will increase by 4%
Effective October 1, 2027, the step plan will increase by 4%
2. Employees shall move up one step on their anniversary date, unless already topped out, in which case they will receive longevity pay.

ALS Rescue Assignment Pay

3. Employees with EMT Basic certification who are assigned to a Rescue Unit (ALS/ambulance) shall be paid \$50.00 for each 24-hour shift.
4. Employees with Paramedic certification who are assigned to a Rescue Unit (ALS/ambulance) shall be paid \$100.00 for each 24-hour shift.

Longevity Pay

Longevity pay will be granted to covered employees during this Agreement as follows:

24 <u>20</u> through 25 years of service	\$3,000.00
26 plus years of service	\$3,500.00

Nothing in this Agreement shall require the payment of any wage increases, including but not limited to step increases, after the expiration of this Agreement by its terms or the period of City Commission imposition of terms.

Any Firefighter/Driver-Engineer/Captain/Shift Commander assigned ~~as Fire Inspector~~ to the Fire Prevention Bureau shall receive assignment pay of \$100.00 per pay period added to their base salary before assignment. Assignment pay shall be prorated for those assignments which are for less than a full pay period. At such time as a Firefighter/Driver-Engineer/Captain/Shift

Commander no longer serves in a ~~Fire Inspector capacity~~ the Fire Prevention Bureau, the individual's salary shall be reduced by the assignment pay increment discussed above.

Standby Pay:

Beginning October 1, 2022, Fire Inspectors who are assigned to remain in a standby status while not on duty shall be paid \$50.00 per day.

Fire Inspectors assigned to standby status will be assigned a take home vehicle (subject to City Manager approval) to utilize only in the event employee is called out to work while on nightly or weekend standby duty.

There shall be no more than one (1) Fire Inspector assigned to standby status.

Instructor Pay

Effective October 1, 2025, the Fire Chief (or designee) may authorize up to three (3) employees to become eligible to receive a non-pensionable payment of one hundred dollars (\$100) per day for teaching in-house courses to Fire Department employees on a designated day off from work. Employees who teach in-house courses to Fire Department employees will continue to receive their regular rate of pay (or overtime rate of pay, if eligible) for actual hours worked while instructing in-house courses on a designated day off.

ARTICLE 17

EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE

Employees attending, as approved by the Fire Chief/designee on an individual basis, fire-related classes or other training (excluding EMT courses) shall be compensated at their hourly rate, provided that they are not “on-duty” (no additional pay for “on duty” attendance) and achieve a passing grade upon completion. It is understood that at no time will training result in an overtime situation being created for the fire department.

Employees may seek reimbursement from ~~The City will pay~~ for books, registration, renewal fees and tuition for EMT and EMT-P Certification and recertification. In order to become eligible for reimbursement for EMT and EMT-P certification and/or recertification expenses, employees are required to seek written approval from the Fire Chief/designee in advance of the employee beginning the EMT certification/recertification program/process. The City will make every reasonable effort to schedule EMT re-certification courses during regular duty days; however, the City will not pay for off duty time spent in training or re-certification.

Effective October 1, 2024, the City will pay the following incentive pay (up to an aggregate total) of 8% for attaining and retaining the following certifications:

Fire Inspector	2%
Hazmat	1%
Rescue Diver	1%
Pump Operator	1%
Fire Service Instructor I	1%
USAR	1%
Any additional Florida State Fire	
College Certifications	1%

Effective ~~October 1, 2024~~ the first pay period that occurs after Ratification of this 2025-2028 Agreement, the City will ~~pay the following~~ provide a flat rate incentive payment of fifty dollars (\$50.00) per pay period ~~incentive pay for~~ to employees who are assigned to the following teams noted below:

2025-2028 Tentative Agreement for Ratification

Hazmat Team	1%
Dive Team	1%
USAR Team	1%

The Fire Chief (or designee) shall provide the Human Resources Director with a current list of members assigned to each Team by no later than March 1st and September 1st of each fiscal year.

PARAMEDIC CERTIFICATION PAY

1. Effective October 1, 2024 ~~2025~~, the City will pay all employees covered by this agreement who have attained and retain a Florida State Paramedic Certification a ~~n 7%~~ 8% supplement to their base pay.
2. Effective October 1, 2026, the City will pay all employees covered by this agreement who have attained and retain a Florida State Paramedic Certification a 10% supplement to their base pay.
3. Effective October 1, 2027, the City will pay all employees covered by this agreement who have attained and retain a Florida State Paramedic Certification a 12% supplement to their base pay.

Members shall be entitled to a two percent (2%) increase in their base wage upon earning a Bachelor's degree in a Fire Science related field.

Members shall be entitled to an additional two percent (2%) increase to their base wage (totaling 4%) upon earning a Master's degree in a Fire Science Related Field.

ARTICLE 18

SICK AND ANNUAL LEAVE

SICK LEAVE:

Effective October 1, 2025, The ~~the~~ sick leave accrual shall be ~~3.692307~~ 11.076924 hours per pay period ~~for employees assigned to a twenty-four (24) hour shift, and 3.69230769 hours per pay period for employees assigned to an eight (8) hour shift.~~ This equates to ~~eight (8) twelve (12) days~~ hours per month ~~year~~. Employees on sick leave will be charged ~~one (1) hour~~ ~~twelve (12) hours for each work day~~ ~~hour~~ taken as sick leave.

To prevent employees from losing the value of their current sick leave accrued prior to the effective date of this Agreement, the City will double the amount of existing sick leave that has been accrued within each employee's sick leave bank on September 30, 2025. The City shall convert each employee's existing sick leave accruals in this manner after October 1, 2025.

City agrees to pay for all unused sick leave upon separation in good standing according to the schedule below up to a cap of ~~720~~ 900 hours at the employee's current hourly rate. ~~All bargaining unit members who, as of October 1, 1992, have sick leave accumulated in excess of 720 hours shall be grandfathered in at the number of hours on the books as of that date and that shall be the cap of hours for that employee subject to pay out at separation from employment. Should those employees use or buy sick leave benefits so as to reduce the number of hours on the books below the grandfather cap, then the new lower cap will be established. Sick Leave grandfathered in as of October 1, 1992 in excess of the 720 hour cap may be paid for by City subject to funds being budgeted and available at the rate of pay as of October 1, of each year, down to the 720 hour cap level. The sick leave payout schedule shall be as follows:~~

<u>Years</u>	<u>Percentage of Hours Paid</u>
0-5	0%
6-10	50%
10+	100%

Sick leave accrual shall continue until the employee separates from City employment in an unlimited fashion and these hours shall be available for use. Transfer of sick leave above and/or below the cap to another employee will be subject to the City's sick leave transfer policy.

2025-2028 Tentative Agreement for Ratification

City agrees, to the extent that it is legally permissible, that upon the death of a firefighter compensation for unused sick leave up to ~~720~~ 900 hour cap will be paid to the designated spouse or next of kin.

ANNUAL OR VACATION LEAVE:

1. For all full time employees, the accrual rate shall be:

LENGTH OF SERVICE

RATE OF ACCRUAL PER YEAR ~~PAY~~
PERIOD

1 to 5 Years

~~80 Hours~~ 4.61538 hours for employees assigned to 24-hour shift; and 3.08 hours for employees assigned to 8-hour shift

5 to 10 years

~~120 Hours~~ 6.92307 hours for employees assigned to 24-hour shift; and 4.62 hours for employees assigned to 8-hour shift

Over 10 years

~~160 Hours~~ 9.23076 hours for employees assigned to 24-hour shift; and 6.15 hours for employees assigned to 8-hour shift

Changes made to shift assignments will affect the accrual rates noted above, and will result in the appropriate conversion.

To prevent employees from losing the value of their current annual leave accrued prior to the effective date of this Agreement, the City will multiply the amount of existing annual leave that has been accrued within each employee's annual leave bank as of September 30, 2025 by one and one-half (1.5). The City shall convert each employee's existing annual leave accruals in this manner after October 1, 2025.

2. Annual leave will be taken on approval through the chain of command:

- a. Based on current Fire Department policy, annual leave will not be granted for period less than leave earned.
- ~~b. Employees covered under this Agreement who take annual leave in less than two (2) week blocks will be charged sixteen (16) hours of leave per fire suppression duty day taken.~~
- b. e. Annual leave of a day or more will be approved by the Fire Chief or designee and this approval will be based on impact on overall productivity.
- c. Employees on annual leave will be charged one (1) hour for each hour taken as annual leave, which shall be taken in no less than one (1) day increments. Employees assigned to an eight (8) hour shift shall be paid for annual leave taken in eight (8) hour increments and employees assigned to a twenty-four (24) hour shift shall be paid for annual leave taken in twenty-four (24) hour increments.

3. Annual Leave balances as of September 30 of any given year must be utilized by September 30 of the next fiscal year. Upon documentation of a pattern of denial, the amount of Annual Leave that has been denied may be transferred to sick leave, provided it will not exceed the cap for sick leave; or may be carried over to be used, along with all new annual leave, by the appropriate date of the following year. In the

event that funds have been budgeted for the purpose of buyouts, or there are lapsed salary dollars in the departmental salary line item, leave under the cap may be purchased. To become budgeted, the member must advise the appropriate personnel in the department of their desire to buy out any portion of their annual leave, by May of any given fiscal year, for the following fiscal year. A firefighter must use at least eighty (80) hours of leave, in the preceding twelve (12) months, to be considered for buyouts. A request for buyout is not a mandatory requirement that the leave be purchased by the ~~Employer~~ City. The firefighter may change his/her mind, and decide to use the leave; additionally, the funds may not be budgeted for such a buyout, which will thereby mandate the firefighter use said leave. The "cap" for annual leave hours is ~~240~~ 360. Annual leave above the ~~240~~ 360 cap at the ratification of prior contract shall create a new grandfather cap.

4. Upon separation from the City, an employee shall be paid for each hour of accrued annual leave, at his/her current rate of pay, up to the "cap" of ~~240~~ 360 hours. Estates of employees killed in the line of duty shall be paid for all annual leave without regard to a cap.

5. Incentive Award Days shall be granted to bargaining unit members for the duration of this Agreement, as follows:

- a. Within two pay periods after October 1 and April 1 of each year, the City will grant all active bargaining unit members one (1) Incentive Award Work Day for each half year (defined to be from October 1-March 31, and from April 1-September 30) in which no sick leave is used. Each half year is independent of the others.
- b. Bargaining unit members may earn up to two (2) Incentive Award Work Days during each fiscal year at a rate of one (1) Incentive Award Work Day per half year.
- c. Any time sick leave is used during the defined six month period (October 1-March 31, or April 1-September 30), no Incentive Award Work Day shall be earned in that six-month period.
- d. New bargaining unit members employed by the City between fiscal year quarters will accrue and be entitled to use Incentive Award Work Days

commencing with the first day of the next six-month period. However, if the employment date occurs during the first forty-five (45) days of the fiscal quarter, the accrual period will be retroactive to the first day of the quarter.

- e. Incentive Award Days may be used upon a bargaining unit members' request upon approval by the Fire Chief or his designee. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

ARTICLE 19

WORKERS COMPENSATION

SECTION 1: INTENT AND PURPOSE

The intent and purpose of this section is:

- a. To protect Key West Fire Department employees who are members of this bargaining unit from the economic hardship of a service-connected disability, while preserving the incentive to return to work.
- b. To enable the department to fill positions with medically able employees by making proper provision for those injured in the performance of their duties.
- c. To facilitate recruitment and retention of employees for the Fire Department.

SECTION 2: DEFINITIONS

- a. **EMPLOYEE** shall mean anyone in the bargaining unit engaged full-time by the Key West Fire Department and who is paid a salary or wages for services rendered.
- b. **DISABILITY** shall mean a disability which incapacitates an employee from performing the duties of his job classification and is the proximate result of an accident or injury occurring at some definite time and place in the actual performance of duty, as determined by the employee's authorized treating worker's compensation physician.
- c. **DISABILITY LEAVE** shall be defined that period of time and status when an employee has been injured while acting within the scope of his employment with the City to the extent that he cannot accept any other work offered by City and until the employee returns to work or receives pension benefits within the scope, context and limitations of Chapter 440 of the Florida Worker's Compensation Statutes, as amended, or Section 112.1815, Florida Statutes, as amended.
- d. **DISABILITY DATE SALARY** shall mean an employees' average weekly wage as calculated by the employee's 13-week wage statement.
- e. **DISABILITY PAYMENTS** shall mean the payments by the City to an Employee

with a disability.

f. **SECONDARY EMPLOYMENT** shall mean a disabled individual's employment with the City, or other employer, or self-employment.

g. **NO WORK STATUS** shall mean the injured workers' functional limitations and restrictions, identified in detail by their authorized worker's compensation physician, are of such severity that the employee cannot perform activities, even at a sedentary level (e.g. hospitalization, cognitive impairment, infection, contagion).

All other terms used herein will be defined in accordance with the definitions of the Florida Workers Compensation Statute, F.S. 440.02, as amended, and Section 112.1815, Florida Statutes, as amended.

SECTION 3: BENEFITS

- a. A Fire Department employee and member of this bargaining unit who suffers a service-connected disability, which is incurred during the periods of time from the sounding of an alarm by the encoder to the return of all of the vehicles to complete service readiness at the stations, or while the employee is engaged in training activities, shall be entitled to an income of one hundred percent of his their disability-date salary and all other benefits paid by the City during normal employment, except annual leave and sick leave accrual, for six (6) months, or for the period of time up to six (6) months as such disability continues, subject to the conditions (1) through (7) listed below.
- b. A Fire Marshall/Fire Prevention employee suffering a service-related disability while engaged in a post-fire investigation is entitled to the same benefits set forth in (a) above.
- c. A Fire Department employee and member of this bargaining unit who suffers a service-connected disability not incurred during the activities described in (a) or (b) above, is entitled to an income of one hundred percent of his their disability-date salary and all other benefits paid by the City during normal employment, except annual leave and sick leave accrual, for the period encompassing three (3) duty days. Each employee, suffering a service related disability while performing staff functions, not incurred during the activities described in (a) or (b) above, and is working forty (40) hour weeks shall be entitled to forty (40) hours of income of one hundred percent of his their disability-date salary, and all other benefits paid by the City during normal

employment, except annual leave and sick-leave accrual. At the end of the employee entitlement to 100% salary as described in this subsection, the employee shall receive 70% of his their disability-date salary until the employee returns to work or until separation, ~~up to a maximum time of~~ but in no case for more than a period of six (6) months. Accrued sick and annual leave can be used to make up the balance of the 30% of the disability-date salary. Thereafter, if an employee is separated because ~~he~~ they is are unable to return to work, worker compensation benefits shall be determined pursuant to Florida Statutes, not inconsistent with the benefits provided herein.

- d. If the employee is not able to return to work at the end of six (6) months ~~of~~ from the date of the employee is placed on a "no work" status due to the disability, the City Manager may terminate ~~said employment~~ the employee for medical reasons and the employee's position may be filled by the City. ~~The employee will be placed on a guaranteed rehire list as provided by F.S. 440.211 or otherwise modified herein.~~ His/Her The employee's income and benefits as set forth above will continue as provided by worker's compensation statutes. However, if the employee is cleared by their authorized worker's compensation physician ~~able to return to work~~ without restrictions, ~~to perform previous duties,~~ at any time within one hundred four (104) weeks ~~of~~ from the date the employee is placed in a "no work" status ~~disability,~~ ~~he~~ the employee will be ~~entitled~~ eligible to be rehired ~~at the same grade and salary within the Fire Department.~~ If ~~At any time after the one hundred four (104) weeks of temporary disability benefits, if~~ from the date the employee is placed in a "no work" status the employee is ~~able~~ cleared by their authorized worker's compensation physician to return to work without restrictions, the City ~~acknowledges~~ will make a good faith obligation attempt to rehire ~~said~~ the employee pursuant to provisions of F.S. 440.211, with the provision that the good faith available work will be within the City of Key West. The City agrees to process separation papers and associate termination pay in an expedited fashion upon expiration of periods discussed in this subsection.

1. The City disability payments shall consist of the difference between all other City-supported disability income payable to the employee and his disability-date salary, plus health insurance benefits. City-supported disability income shall include, but not be limited to: income from social security, retirement pension, disability pension or other applicable local, state and federal sources. The disability-date salary shall be recomputed on October 1 of each year to reflect upward or downward changes, as provided d in Article 16.
2. The maximum City Disability Payments and all other City-supported disability

income shall not exceed the disability-date salary plus health insurance benefits of the employee.

3. The employee shall have been examined by one (1) or more physicians and found to be disabled as defined in Section 2 (b).
4. The employee's disability shall have been determined to be service-connected by the disability panel, and not due to: intentional self-inflicted injury; commission or attempt to commit by the disabled employee an unjustified or criminal assault, battery, or felony; intoxication; gross negligence; or any other misconduct causing the employee's disability. "Misconduct" is defined to be "that conduct, which, in the determination of the disability panel, is a substantial deviation from the Departmental rules and regulations, the orders of the employee's supervisor, or other rules applicable to the course of conduct of the employee in the pursuit of his their employment, and which is the proximate cause of the disability."
5. Where a pre-existing condition, not attributable to or caused by a service-connected injury while serving as an employee of the Fire Department, is accelerated or aggravated by accidents arising out of and in the course of employment, only the acceleration or aggravation of disability reasonably attributable to the accident shall be considered.
- ~~6. Any high hazard employee, as defined by Chapter 122 of Florida Statutes who incurs a disability for which benefits under this division or the Florida Statutes are payable, shall have the option of electing to choose which benefits he shall receive. Exercise of this option must be made by the employee in writing prior to the earlier date on which he would be entitled to benefits under either this division or the Florida Statutes.~~
6. 7. The bargaining unit member employee who is injured or killed in the line of duty shall be entitled to all the benefits provided for in Florida Statutes Chapter 440, which have not otherwise been the subject of this collective bargaining agreement, if light-duty is available in the Fire Department and the employee is able to perform the light-duty based on a physicians' certification, the employee may be required to work. Under no circumstances shall the combined worker's compensation duty period and the light-duty period exceed the time period provided for in Section 3 (c), which is still subject to stipulation outlined in this section. The Chief or his designee's determination of light-duty assignment will be based on Department needs at that time. The Chief or his designee must approve all light-duty assignments. An employee may only be placed in a light-

duty assignment upon written release from the employee's authorized treating worker's compensation physician documenting that the disability is temporary and that the employee is able to regularly perform the duties of the assignment. An employee who is placed in a light-duty assignment is required to report to the light-duty assignment: It is understood that an assignment to other work for the period of temporary disability shall be considered only a temporary reassignment with full retention of rights and benefits under this Agreement, and shall not be considered a reclassification for purposes of pension accrual.

SECTION 4: ADMINISTRATION

The City and Division of Worker's Compensation of the ~~Department of Labor~~ Department of Financial Services shall administer all other worker's compensation matters arising under the Workers Compensation Statute, Chapter 440 of the Florida Statutes, as amended, and all applicable worker's compensation sections of Chapter 112 ~~Section 112.1815, of the~~ Florida Statutes, as amended. This Article shall not be deemed a waiver of any rights under the Workers Compensation Statute, Chapter 440 of the Florida Statutes, as amended, or all applicable worker's compensation sections of Chapter 112 ~~Section 112.1815, Florida~~ Statutes, as amended.

SECTION 5: SICK LEAVE

An employee who suffers a service-connected disability shall not use or be charged sick leave if ~~he is~~ they are granted disability leave or Disability Payments, except as provided herein. Entitlement to disability leave or Disability Payments will be decided on within seven (7) days of the injury and notice of that decision will be given immediately to the affected employee.

SECTION 6: ELIGIBILITY

- A. ~~It is the intent of this Agreement that any~~ All Fire Department employees ~~who is a member of this bargaining unit with~~ that incur a service-connected disability ~~as of~~ during the effective date of this ~~division~~ Agreement, shall be eligible for consideration for benefits hereunder.
- B. An employee injured in the line of duty and other work-related injury shall report said

injury at the time of the occurrence to the employee's immediate supervisor, pursuant to City policy. Failure to immediately report as soon as possible a line-of-duty injury will be managed according to the rules established under the Workers Compensation Statute-, Chapter 440 of the Florida Statutes F.S. 440, as amended, and all applicable worker's compensation sections of Chapter 112 ~~Section 112.1815,~~ of the Florida Statutes, as amended. If the employee is unable to report the injury, ~~his/her~~ their immediate supervisor will report the in-the-line of duty injury to Fire Department/ Management, ~~City Management, Human Resources or~~ and Risk Management.

~~C. Any employee injured in the course and scope of employment shall be examined every twenty (20) working days by the worker's compensation authorized treating physician, The City agrees to file this agreement with the Division of Workers Compensation of the Department of Labor and Employment Security, pursuant to Florida Statute Chapter 440, the Workers Compensation Statute.~~

ARTICLE 20

DEATH IN THE FAMILY

In the event of a death in the immediate family of an employee, the Fire Chief shall grant leave with pay to the employee. In no case shall the leave of absence exceed two (2) working days. However, up to and including one (1) additional day travel time may be granted for out-of-state deaths. To attend a funeral, for other than immediate family, up to four (4) hours leave may be granted. The term "immediate family" shall include:

Parent	Brother
Grandchild	Mother-in-law
Grandparent	Spouse
Child	Domestic Partner
Sister	Dependents (live in)
	Step-Children
	Father-in-law

It is agreed and understood that utilization of leave for other than immediate family shall not result in an overtime situation being created for the fire department.

ARTICLE 21

APPENDIXES AND AMENDMENTS

All appendixes and amendments to this Agreement shall be numbered (or lettered), dated and signed by the responsible parties and shall be subject to all provisions of the Agreement.

ARTICLE 22

SAFETY AND HEALTH

The ~~employer~~ City shall be responsible for all types of safety equipment and practices. All employees may submit in writing to the Fire Chief or City Safety Officer any suggestion and/or opinion concerning the safety and health conditions at their respective fire stations. A written response shall be supplied to all employees within fourteen (14) days of receipt of this material.

The program for the replacement of bunker gear and personal safety equipment shall be continued. The Fire Chief or designee will seek, and seriously consider, recommendation from the Union for said replacement. The City will not create an undue delay in the replacement of such gear and equipment. The City will meet all required laws and State standards.

All Fire apparatus shall carry five (5) self-contained breathing apparatus for all combat personnel on that particular vehicle. All rescue units shall carry at least two (2) self-contained breathing apparatus for all combat personnel on that particular vehicle. A communication radio is to be issued and carried by each combat personnel answering a fire and/or any type of emergency call.

ARTICLE 23

DRUG TESTING

SECTION 1:

The parties agree that the City's revised Drug Free Workplace Policy, which is attached to the Agreement as Attachment C, will apply to all members of the bargaining unit effective upon ratification or City Commission imposition of this Agreement, subject to the modifications set forth in this Article.

SECTION 2:

Fitness of Duty Examinations - The Parties agree that there shall be no routine fitness for duty medical examinations and/or drug testing included as a part of that examination, for the duration of this Agreement. The City reserves the right to require individual employees to submit to a fitness for duty medical examination for reasons that are job related. In the event that employees are required to take a fitness for duty medical examination they will not be required to submit to drug or alcohol testing unless the City has reasonable suspicion of drug or alcohol use as described in Section 11.6.2 of the Drug Free Workplace Policy.

SECTION 3:

Confidentiality- All drug testing shall be done in accordance with confidentiality procedures outlines in section 440.102(8), Florida Statutes. All urine and blood test results performed hereunder will be considered medical records and held confidential.

All individuals and entities involved in or associated with the drug testing and their agents may not release any information concerning drug test results obtained pursuant to the drug testing without a written consent form signed voluntarily by the person tested, unless such release is compelled by a hearing officer or a court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to an appeal taken from job action by the ~~Employer~~ City or denial of benefits under the workers compensation agreement and statute. The consent form will fully advise the employee of the information to be disclosed, the name of the person who is authorized to obtain the information, the purpose of the disclosure, and the duration of the consent.

Any results of positive testing, which the ~~Employer~~ City later determines have been refuted, shall have affixed thereto the subsequent refutation.

Tests shall only be performed for drugs defined in III (D) hereof and the laboratory shall only report on the presence of these substances. Cutoff levels to be used in testing are those established by and specified in Section 59A-24.006 of the Florida Administrative Code, as amended.

Every specimen that produces a positive, confirmed test result shall be preserved by the licensed or certified laboratory that conducted the confirmation test for a period of at least 210 days after the result of the test was mailed or otherwise delivered to the MRO, or until any legal case or administrative appeal is settled. During the 180 day period after written notification of the positive test result, the employee who has provided the specimen shall be permitted by the ~~Employer~~ City to have a portion of the specimen retested, at the employee's expense, at another laboratory, licensed and approved by the State of Florida.

SECTION 4:

Titles- Where appropriate throughout the Policy, the "Department Director" shall mean "Fire Chief".

SECTION 5:

Reasonable Suspicion Report Procedure - If an employee has information upon which there may be a reasonable suspicion of another employee's drug and/or alcohol use in violation of City policy, he or she must immediately report the information to the suspect employee's higher ranking officer on duty, the Director of that Department, or that Director designee; and provide notice to the City Manager not later than 48 hours (excluding weekends and holidays) following the initial report.

The officer on duty receiving such a report must report the same to the Shift Commander. When a Shift Commander, or higher ranking officer, has a reasonable suspicion based upon objective factors which is supported by at least one other member above the rank of a firefighter that the employee has possession, is under the influence of, or is using, dispensing or selling any illegal drug or controlled substance which is not prescribed by a licensed physician while on duty, or that the employee is abusing illegal drugs and the abuse either adversely affects

his job performance or represents a threat to the safety of the employee, his co-workers, or the public, that officer will report the same to the Fire Chief or his designee. The Fire Chief shall report the same to the City Manager by written report confirming or dismissing same.

If the Fire Chief or his acting designee, concludes that a reasonable suspicion testing is justified, he or she must consult with the Director of Human Resources, a City attorney or both, prior to his or her final reasonable suspicion determination. Reasonable suspicion testing may only be authorized by the Fire Chief, his or her designee or by the Assistant City Manager or City Manager. The order for an employee to submit to reasonable suspicion testing will be made by the Fire Chief or his designee.

The City must document, in writing, the circumstances which formed the basis of its reasonable suspicion testing prior to issuing an order for testing.

One copy of the document shall be given to the bargaining unit employee before he is tested. The affected bargaining unit employee shall be allowed enough time to be able to read and understand the entire document.

Employees shall be transported to the specimen collection site by a Captain or Watch Commander. When requested by the Employee, a Union Representative shall be allowed to accompany the employee to the test and observe the collecting, bottling and sealing of the specimen.

ARTICLE 24

VACANCIES AND PROMOTIONS

The Key West Fire Department will follow the terms and conditions listed in this Article to promote personnel to the ranks of Rescue Lieutenant, Driver Engineer, Lt. Fire Inspector, Lieutenant Emergency Management; Captain Emergency Medical Services (EMS), Captain Fire Inspector, Fire Captain, and Shift Commander. Candidates must complete and timely provide the Fire Chief's Office with an application that contains proof of all required documents and minimum qualifications listed below for desired rank. The Fire Chief's Office will post dates and deadlines for available promotions and will make every reasonable effort to inform all qualifying personnel.

To be eligible for promotion to Driver Engineer, a candidate must:

1. Receive a passing score of seventy percent (70%) percent or higher on the Driver Engineer written promotional exam.
2. Have completed three (3) years of service with the Key West Fire Department and have a minimum of one (1) year as an acting Driver Engineer.
3. Maintain the following current and valid Florida State Fire certifications: Pump Operator, Fire Inspector I and Fire Officer I.

To be eligible for promotion to Rescue Lieutenant, a candidate must:

1. Receive a passing score of seventy percent (70%) percent or higher on the Driver Engineer written promotional exam.
2. Receive approval by the Medical Director to provide ALS level of care and work in the capacity of a Rescue Lieutenant.
3. Have completed three (3) consecutive years of service with the Key West Fire Department, and at least two (2) years of service as a Key West Fire Department Paramedic approved by the Medical Director.
4. Have completed a minimum of one (1) year as an acting Rescue Lieutenant approved by the Medical Director.
5. Maintain the following current and valid Florida State Fire certifications: Paramedic (Medical Director approved), Pump Operator, Fire Inspector I, and Fire Officer I.
6. Maintain the following current and valid EMS Certifications: ACLS (Advanced Cardiac Life Support) Instructor; PALS (Pediatric Advanced Life Support) Instructor; BLS (Basic Life Support) Instructor; ASLS – Advanced Stroke Life Support; and PHTLS – Prehospital Trauma Life Support.

To be eligible for promotion to Lt. Fire Inspector, a candidate must:

1. Receive a passing score of seventy percent (70%) percent or higher on the Driver Engineer written promotional exam.
2. Have completed three (3) consecutive years of service with the Key West Fire Department.
3. Maintain the following current and valid Florida State Fire certifications: Pump Operator, Fire Inspector I, Fire Instructor I, Fire Investigator and Fire Officer I.

To be eligible for promotion to Captain Fire Inspector, a candidate must:

1. Receive a passing score of seventy percent (70%) percent or higher on the Captain written promotional exam.
2. Hold the rank of Driver Engineer, Rescue Lieutenant, or Lt. Fire Inspector for a minimum of two (2) years.
3. Maintain the following current and valid Florida State Fire certifications: Pump Operator, Fire Inspector I, Fire Instructor I, Fire Investigator, and Fire Officer II.

To be eligible for promotion to Fire Captain, a candidate must:

1. Receive a passing score of 70 percent or higher on the Captain written promotional exam.
2. Hold the rank of Driver Engineer or Rescue Lieutenant with the Key West Fire Department for a minimum of two (2) years and have a minimum of two (2) years of experience as an acting Captain.
3. Maintain the following current and valid Florida State Fire certifications: Pump Operator, Fire Inspector I, Fire Instructor I and Fire Officer II.

To be eligible for promotion to Shift Commander, a candidate must:

1. Receive a passing score of 70 percent or higher on the Captain written promotional exam.
2. Hold the rank of Fire Captain with the Key West Fire Department for at least two (2) years and have a minimum of two (2) years of experience as an acting Shift Commander.
3. Maintain the following current and valid Florida State Fire Certifications: Pump Operator, Fire Inspector 1, Fire Instructor 1, and Fire Officer II.

To be eligible for promotion to EMS Captain, a candidate must:

1. Receive a passing score of 70 percent or higher on the Captain written promotional exam.

2025-2028 Tentative Agreement for Ratification

2. Hold the rank of Driver Engineer or Rescue Lieutenant with the Key West Fire Department for a minimum of three (3) years (cumulative service across either rank is acceptable).
3. Complete a minimum of three (3) years of service as a Key West Fire Department Paramedic approved by the Medical Director.
4. Maintain the following current and valid Florida State Fire certifications: Pump Operator, Fire Inspector I, Fire Officer II and Fire Instructor.
5. Maintain the following current and valid EMS Certifications: ACLS (Advanced Cardiac Life Support) Instructor; PALS (Pediatric Advanced Life Support) Instructor; BLS (Basic Life Support) Instructor; ASLS – Advanced Stroke Life Support; and PHTLS – Prehospital Trauma Life Support.

Key West Fire Dept. Promotion Point System

The following point system will be used to score all qualifying candidates. This Promotional Point system shall be used by the City in selecting candidates for promotion for the rank of EMS Captain, Rescue Lieutenant, Driver Engineer, Lt. Fire Inspector, Captain Fire Inspector, Fire Captain and Shift Commander. All candidates will receive points in the following categories: Written examination, Interview Assessment Board, Tenure, and Education/ Training. The weights for each category are as listed:

<u>Written Examination -</u>	<u>20 points</u>
<u>Interview Assessment Board -</u>	<u>15 points</u>
<u>Tenure -</u>	<u>20 points</u>
<u>Education/Training-</u>	<u>45 points</u>
<u>Possible Score -</u>	<u>100 Points</u>

The City Manager, or their designee, will select from the candidates with the three (3) highest point totals for that promotion.

Written Examination:

The maximum score in this category will be twenty (20) points. All candidates must take and pass the required promotional exam for the desired position. Points for this category will be awarded as follows:

<u>Test Scores: 70 - 75 percent =</u>	<u>5 points</u>
<u>Test Scores: 76 - 80 percent =</u>	<u>10 points</u>
<u>Test Scores: 81- 90 percent =</u>	<u>15 points</u>

2025-2028 Tentative Agreement for Ratification

Test Scores: 91-100 percent = 20 points

Candidates will be permitted to re-take a promotional examination one (1) time when the promotional examination is scheduled/offered by the City. The candidate will be permitted to keep the best/highest score out of the two (2) examinations. Candidates who elect to re-take the promotional examination will be required to pay for all costs associated with grading the examination.

Interview Assessment Board:

The maximum score in this category will be ten (10) points. Once candidates meet the promotional policy requirements, they will be scheduled for their Interview Assessment Board. Candidates will be asked a series of questions by the Interview Assessment Board and be given a score from 1-10 points by each Assessment Board member. Each Assessment Board member score will be added up and the average of the total score will be used. The Interview Assessment Board for each promotion will consist of the Fire Chief (or designee) and a minimum of four (4) other designees who are not within the bargaining unit, which may include the Division Chiefs and /or members of the City Manager's Office, as deemed appropriate by the Fire Chief and availability of assessment board members.

Tenure:

Maximum score in this category will be twenty (20) points. Candidates will receive one (1) point for every completed year of service with the Key West Fire Dept.

Education/Training:

Maximum score in this category will be forty-five (45) points. Candidates will be awarded points for having the following certifications and college degrees.

<u>Training</u>	<u>Point Value</u>
<u>Fire Inspector I</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>Fire Instructor I</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>Fire Officer I</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>Live Fire Training Instructor</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>Pump Operator</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>Fire and Life Safety Educator</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>Safety Officer</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>Fire Code Administrator</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>EMS Level A Instructor</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>EMS Level B Instructor</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>Fire Inspector II</u>	<u>2</u>

2025-2028 Tentative Agreement for Ratification

<u>Fire Instructor II</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>Fire Officer II</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>Hazardous Material Technician</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>Associate's degree</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>American Heart Association Instructor BLS</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>American Heart Association Instructor ACLS</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>American Heart Association Instructor PALS</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>Prehospital Trauma Life Support (PHTLS) Instructor</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>Fire Inspector III</u>	<u>3</u>
<u>Fire Investigator</u>	<u>3</u>
<u>Fire Instructor III</u>	<u>3</u>
<u>Fire Officer III</u>	<u>3</u>
<u>Bachelor's Degree</u>	<u>3</u>
<u>Fire Officer IV</u>	<u>4</u>
<u>Paramedic</u>	<u>7</u>
<u>USAR Technician</u>	<u>4</u>
<u>Master's degree</u>	<u>4</u>
<u>Rescue Diver</u>	<u>2</u>

~~All vacancies and promotions will fill in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Civil Service Board of the City of Key West and the Policies and Procedures of the City of Key West except as modified herein.~~

~~All current positions from Engineer up to and including Shift Commander, shall be filled from within the ranks of the department, and provided such positions are filled by qualified members from within the ranks of the department.~~

~~The intent of this provision is to provide an open avenue for advancement and to encourage promotion and salary increases for members of the Union.~~

~~It is the City's policy to promote from within whenever possible, and the City will make a good faith effort to fill positions above the rank of Shift Commander from within the ranks of the department. It is understood that the City shall set the promotional criteria for these~~

~~positions.~~

~~It is understood that the determination of inclusion/exclusion in the bargaining unit is the exclusive right and duty of PERC.~~

~~If the creation of a new position will impact upon the working conditions of bargaining unit members, said conditions shall be negotiated. If there is no impact upon working conditions, the position shall be filled as determined by the Fire Chief/designee.~~

- ~~a. Promotion to Engineer: The City Manager or designee shall select and promote to Engineer from a list furnished to him of all eligible candidates who have passed the Civil Service promotional examination for Engineer and meet all the requirements as to time in rank (three (3) years). The time in rank requirement, upon written request by the City Manager or designee, shall be waived and a new examination given if after the promotional examination is given there are less than three (3) candidates to choose from. The City Manager or designee shall not be restricted to any part or portion of the list and shall be allowed to select from the entire list of all candidates who have passed.~~
- ~~b. Promotion to Captain: The City Manager or designee shall select and promote to Captain from a list furnished to him/her of all eligible candidates who have passed the Civil Service promotional examination for Captain and meet all the requirements as to time in rank (three (3) years). The time in rank requirement, upon written request by the City Manager or designee, shall be waived and a new examination given if after the promotional examination is given there are less than three (3) candidates to choose from. The City Manager or designee shall not be restricted to any part or portion of the list and shall be allowed to select from the entire list of all candidates who have passed.~~

The Testing Authority shall be the Civil Service Board of the City of Key West. The materials used for such testing shall be comprised only of materials which are provided and made available to the employee, and shall consist of only those technical or fire related courses relating to the duties of the position, as determined by the Fire Chief or designee, in consultation with the Civil Service Board.

It will be the responsibility of the employee to attend any technical course included in the testing procedure. If the employee does not attend the course when provided by the City, it shall be the responsibility of the employee to attend the course elsewhere, at his/her their expense. Time off to attend such a course will be provided, if, in the determination of the

Fire Chief or designee, such time off will not result in a scheduling problem, and no overtime is incurred.

Testing Parameters:

Frequency of Testing: Promotional examinations shall be given on an ~~semi-annual~~ basis. A specific date for such testing shall be selected by the Civil Service Board. A test date need not be set if:

There are no persons eligible for testing by the test date, and

There are no requests for testing from those eligible to re-test.

If a special testing date is required for any reason, all eligible members may test on this date for any promotional roster.

~~Time in Rank: A Firefighter must be in good standing and have successfully completed three (3) years of service to be eligible to take the promotional examination for Driver/Engineer. A Driver/Engineer must be in good standing and have successfully completed the probationary period to be eligible to take the promotional examination for Captain.~~

Once an eligible member has successfully passed the promotional examination, the member will be placed on an eligibility list and will not be required to repeat the promotional examination.

ARTICLE 25

PERSONNEL REDUCTION

In the case of a personnel reduction, the rules and regulations of the Civil Service Board and the Policies and Procedures of the City of Key West will be adhered to. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 3 (Management Rights), the ~~Employer~~ City will make every effort not to reduce or abolish salaries, ranks below the manning level for fire protection services noted in Article 35, Sections 2 and 3 and will, to the extent possible, keep vacancies filled and provide a minimum level of staffing of paid professional firefighters equal to or greater than the budgeted level in place for fire protection services prior to the commencement of ALS Rescue Services in 2015. The ~~Employer~~ City agrees not to contract with other entities for fire protection services unless a state of emergency exists. However, consistent with Article 3, the City shall maintain the management right to subcontract, in whole or in part, the ALS Rescue Services that commenced in 2015, which may result in personnel reductions when the level of ALS Rescue Services is reduced or eliminated by any such subcontract. The ~~Employer~~ City agrees not to organize, train nor utilize a volunteer firefighter unit in an attempt to reduce, replace or augment the current bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 26

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

A "Grievance" shall be defined as any dispute arising from or concerning the interpretation or application of this Agreement, ~~and~~ Grievances may not be filed to challenge the issuance of a "coaching" or "verbal warning," which are not considered to be disciplinary.

Grievances shall be settled in the following manner:

Step 1: The employee shall discuss the matter, within 3 business days of the Employee becoming aware of the grievable matter, openly and frankly with the immediate supervisor, who shall provide an immediate decision, allowing a maximum of 3 business days. A Union representative may be present during the grievance meeting, upon the employee's request or as required by Section 447.301(4), Florida Statutes, as amended. If the employee is not satisfied with the decision rendered by the supervisor, said employee may make an appeal to the Union Grievance Committee. This appeal must be made within 3 business days of the supervisor's decision. The appeal shall be made in writing and shall be prepared jointly by the employee and the supervisor on the City form HRF-9. A copy shall be given to the employee upon completion.

Step 2: The Union Grievance Committee, upon receiving a written appeal, shall determine if a grievance exists. If, in their opinion no grievance exists, no further action is necessary. However, any employee covered by this agreement may process the grievance unassisted, provided that any adjustment of the grievance is not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement and the Union has been given reasonable opportunity to be present at any meeting called for the resolution of such grievance. A grievance is to be reviewed by the Grievance committee made up of Union members.

The grievance is reviewed by the Grievance Committee using the following criteria:

Matter is covered by the contract.

Matter is grievable under the contract.

If the grievance is not covered by the contract and it is grievable, it may be filed under Civil Services. Nothing in this Article shall require the Union to process grievances for any non-dues paying bargaining unit members.

Step 3: For those grievances meeting the criteria according to the Union Grievance Committee, the Chief of the Fire Department or designee shall arrange a meeting within 3 business days of the Union Grievance Committee's written decision with the employee's supervisor, employee and union representative. If the Chief is also the employee's immediate supervisor, then Step 1 will be the responsibility of the Chief, Step 3 will be omitted and Step 4 will be initiated.

Step 4: If the matter is still not satisfactorily settled, the employee(s) or the Union shall, within 5 business days, submit a copy of the original HRF-9 which contains in writing the complaint or problem and action taken up to the time of submission, to the City Manager or designee. The City Manager shall have 5 business days to hold a meeting with the Chief, employee and union representative; the Human Resources Director will act as recording secretary. A written decision shall be rendered within 10 business days of said meeting.

Step 5: If a satisfactory resolution is not reached at the City Manager level, the Union or the employee(s) may advance the grievance ~~matter shall be within 5 business days, submitted to arbitration~~ within five (5) business days from the date the City Manager's response is provided, ~~by the employee(s) or the Union for adjustment,~~ by submitting a request for arbitration in writing to the Director of Human Resources. The parties may attempt to mutually agree on an arbitrator. In the alternative, either party may request a panel of seven (7) arbitrators from either the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) or the American Arbitration Association. The parties will select an arbitrator through alternatively striking the panel. The arbitration shall be conducted pursuant to the Revised Florida Arbitration Code, Chapter 682, Florida Statutes, as amended. The City shall provide the hearing room for the arbitration. The Arbitrator shall have no power to add to, subtract from or modify the terms of this Agreement. The Arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding, pursuant to Section 447.401, Florida Statutes,

2025-2028 Tentative Agreement for Ratification

as amended. All fees charged by the arbitrator will be split equally by both parties.

The employee(s) or the Union may, at any time, elect to withdraw the grievance.

The Union and the City may mutually agree in writing at any time to skip any step(s) in this Grievance Procedure.

ARTICLE 27

· **FIREFIGHTERS PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLAN**

1. Except as provided for below, the City will maintain the existing pension ordinance provisions regarding benefits and contributions for bargaining unit employees for the duration of this Agreement.
2. The City's Fire Pension Plan ordinance shall be changed to include a military buy-back option and prior fire service buy-back option that will provide eligible Members of this bargaining unit the opportunity to buy-back pension credit for up to five (5) years of military service or pension credit for up to five (5) years of prior fire service, provided the eligible Member has not received and will not receive any other pension or retirement benefit from another plan based on that prior military **or** fire service, and provided the eligible Member shall timely pay one hundred percent (100%) of the full/total actuarial costs and any related fees of any such buy-back pension credit, so that any pension credit obtained through these buy-back options shall not cost the City or the Pension Plan any money. Additional requirements of any such military and/or fire service buy-back options shall be included in the ordinance language agreed by the Parties, which shall include, among other things, for example, language to ensure that this buy-back pension credit time cannot be used to meet vesting requirements; and the buy-back pension credit time must be timely paid in full by the Member before retirement, based on lump sum or a required payoff schedule, and that the buy-back pension credit benefits must be consistent with any/all requirements of Chapter **175**, Florida Statutes, etc.
3. The parties agree that they have reached mutual consent/agreement for the use of premium tax revenues received from the State under Chapters 175 and 185, Florida Statutes, in Section 46-327 of the City Code of Ordinances through the City of Key West Police Officer's and Firefighter's Retirement Fund Share Plan (Share Plan). Under the terms of the Share Plan, the non-dedicated premium tax revenues received by the City from the State each fiscal year that are determined to be "available funds" are allocated to qualified participants via the Share Plan provisions in Section 46-327.

ARTICLE 28

INSURANCE

1. The ~~Employer~~ City agrees to provide health and accident insurance coverage as provided in the City's comprehensive health care policy, including major medical, dental and optical, for regular full-time employees subject to the following:
 - a. The premium paid by the City shall be the full single coverage premium for the employee, including any increase in premium imposed during the term of this contract for all employees hired on or before the ratification date of this Agreement by both parties.
 - b. Eligible employees hired on or after October 1, 2010, will be eligible for health, dental and optical coverage beginning the first of the month following 60 days of employment.
2. The City shall continue to pay \$155.00 for dependent coverage; the employee shall absorb any future increases to dependent coverage. Dependent coverage shall be paid in full by any employee hired on or after December 1, 1990. Any employee who was hired prior to December 1, 1990, shall be considered "Grandfathered" and shall continue to be eligible for dependent coverage during the term of this Agreement, however, the City shall only pay \$155.00 towards such dependent coverage and the employee shall pay the difference, if any.

ARTICLE 29

SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any provision of this Agreement, or the application of such provision, should be rendered or declared invalid by any Court action or by reason of an existing or subsequently enacted legislation the remaining parts or portion of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 30

HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

1. The regular duty hours shall be an average of fifty six (56) hours per week, twenty-four (24) hour shifts, twenty-four (24) hours on duty, forty-eight (48) hours off duty. These hours are a combination of an average of fifty hours worked per week and 6 "Kelly" hours per week.
2. Overtime pay of time-and-a-half (1 1/2) shall be paid for all hours worked in excess of ~~five (5) 24 hours per shift,~~ one hundred and six (106) hours per two-week pay period, in quarter hour increments. Overtime shall not be paid for those substitutions mutually agreed to by the employees, and approved by the Fire Chief/designee, but the employee originally scheduled to work will have such hours credited as hours worked in accordance with the FLSA.
3. Overtime pay will be paid bi-weekly. Sick leave, Annual leave, Holiday, Paid Administrative leave, and any other approved absence, shall not be computed as hours worked for computation of overtime pay in accordance with FLSA.
4. ~~2.~~ KELLY DAYS:
 - a. Each employee will be further entitled to twelve (12) "Kelly" or "compensatory" days per year taken as scheduled by Fire Chief/designee. The "Kelly" day represents compensatory time for each employee working an average of fifty-six (56) hours per week, effectively reducing the Employer's overtime expense.
 - b. Any pay-out of a Kelly Day would only occur in the departure month of an employee as a result of retirement, resignation, or any form of termination with that month's Kelly Day still on the accrual records.
5. The parties agree to form a Scheduling Committee comprised of Union and City representatives, which shall meet to discuss alternative work schedules. The first meeting between the Scheduling Committee shall be held within ninety (90) days after ratification of this 2025-2028 Agreement. The Scheduling Committee shall thereafter continue to meet quarterly during the course of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 31

HOLIDAYS

1. The City of Key West agrees that employees shall receive overtime pay for any hours worked on the following holidays (the actual CALENDAR date of the holidays):

New Years' Day	Labor Day
Martin Luther King's Birthday	Columbus Day
Presidents' Day	Veteran's Day
Easter	Thanksgiving Day
Memorial Day	Day After Thanksgiving
Juneteenth	Christmas Day
Independence Day	
2. For the purposes of this Agreement, "holiday" pay shall also be paid on those occasions when City Hall is closed for business, except for acts of God, on weekends, or on the two (2) "floating holidays" designated by the City Manager.
3. If a bargaining unit member is off on a designated holiday, he or she shall be paid eight (8) hours at his/her regular hourly rate.
4. Bargaining unit members, at their option, may choose to accrue holiday pay in reserve and be paid the entire prior fiscal year accrued holiday pay by the last pay period of November of each year of the Agreement. Any accrued holiday pay in reserve shall be paid upon an Association member's separation from the City.

ARTICLE 32

ALLOWANCES

1. A bi-weekly allowance of \$75.00 is granted employees covered by this Agreement for the purpose of maintenance of uniforms. A regular work uniform consist of those items, garments (colors and types) as determined by the Fire Chief or designee. The employer shall provide four (4) such uniforms and one set of accessories that shall include a light winter jacket, black belt, name plate, badge and collar pins for each person covered by this Agreement.

The employer shall replace uniforms and accessories damaged in the course of duty or those in need of replacement due to normal wear. If an employee covered by this Agreement has personal property damaged or destroyed in the line of duty through no fault of employee, as determined by the Fire Chief or designee, the City shall repair or replace the personal property in an amount up to one hundred dollars (\$100.00). The Fire Chief or designee shall have the final authority to determine the reimbursement, entitlement and value of any items other than watches or prescription glasses and contact lenses. The City will not repair or replace such items unless the employee reports that these items have been damaged before the end of a particular shift.

City issued equipment damaged or destroyed as a result of employee negligence or misconduct shall be replaced at employee expense in addition to disciplinary action as appropriate as per the rules and regulations of the department.

Effective October 1, 2005, the City shall provide one class A dress uniform consisting of bellcap, shirt, pants, jacket, shoes, badge to an honor guard of fifteen (15) employees selected by the Union, subject to approval by the Chief.

2. It is management's right to determine the necessity and appropriateness of automobile and gasoline allowances, based on usage.

ARTICLE 33

WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION

An employee covered by this Agreement who is assigned and performs the duties of a higher ranking officer will be paid an additional \$50.00 for each shift where an employee works out of classification capacity. Employees shall not be required to step up more than one grade. Employees shall not be mandated to act in a higher classification unless they have held their current classification at least six months.

ARTICLE 34

SPECIAL EVENTS / OFF-DUTY DETAILS

1. Off-duty details and/or secondary employment shall be permitted, so long as regularly scheduled duty is not interfered with or impaired, and there is no conflict of interest.
2. Special (or extra duty) details, including but not limited to, sporting events, festivals, parades, for which the ~~Employer~~ City offers some support shall be staffed by off-duty members of The Key West Fire Department. In the event additional staffing is needed, the City may utilize mutual aid resources pursuant to an effective mutual aid agreement.
3. Special events or off-duty details will be handled by a coordinator appointed by the Fire Chief or his/her designee, as follows:
 - A. At the beginning of each calendar year, the Fire Chief or his/her designee will meet with the Union President or his/her designee to review the annual list of special events or recurring off-duty details.
 - B. Special events or off-duty details will be distributed fairly. Bargaining unit members who do not attend a special event or off-duty detail after accepting the assignment will be subject to the loss of future assignments and/or subject to the rules and regulations of the Key West Fire Department and the City of Key West.
4. On duty personnel and equipment may be used for public relations and community service support events including, but not limited to: parades, festivals, school events, youth events, etc.

ARTICLE 35

STAFFING

1. Management reserves all rights to determine staffing and deployment of fire personnel, as per the Charter of the City of Key West.
2. Effective October 1, 2018, there shall be minimum manning of twenty (20) personnel to include one (1) Shift Commander, three (3) Captains, four (4) Driver/Engineers, one (1) Rescue Lieutenant, two (2) EMT-P paramedics, three (3) EMT-B drivers and six (6) firefighters to be distributed daily by the Fire Chief's designee, normally the Shift Commander on duty, using criteria of placement as determined by the Fire Chief.
3. Effective October 1, 2019, minimum manning shall increase to twenty-one (21) personnel. The Employer agrees to use every reasonable effort to have four (4) combat personnel on duty per fire truck, at the three (3) fire stations and two (2) combat personnel on the ladder truck or fourteen (14) combat personnel on duty per shift (City-wide) and one (1) Shift Commander. There shall be at least two (2) combat personnel assigned to each on-duty ALS rescue unit, which shall include a Rescue Lieutenant (Equivalent to Driver/Engineer) who will be assigned by the Fire Chief or the Fire Chief's designee.
4. It is agreed that Article 30 of this Agreement applies only to line functions (duties primarily involving fire suppression) and that staff functions, i.e., fire prevention, public education, etc. are exempt from the work hours as described in Article 30. Changes in hours and days of work for staff functions shall be recommended by the Fire Chief or designee, and shall be negotiated.

The assignment of fire department personnel from a line function to a staff function or from staff to line on a temporary basis, not to exceed 90 days unless mutually agreed upon, shall not be construed by the Union to be a violation of Article 12. The assignment of personnel to a staff function shall not in any way result in a reduction of gross pay. It further agrees that nothing contained in this section shall be used for the purpose of punishment, discrimination or injustice against the members of the Union.

ARTICLE 36

MAINTENANCE OF STATIONS

The ~~Employer~~ City agrees that it will provide, at each of its Fire Stations, appropriated dining room furniture and enough chairs to accommodate the number of employees working at each station. Further, the ~~Employer~~ City will provide a sofa, chairs, and air conditioning for employee living areas in each of its stations. The ~~Employer~~ City shall also provide a working washing machine and dryer at each station. The ~~Employer~~ City shall also provide the utensils, pots, pans, and small appliances (i.e., toaster, electric can opener, blender, coffee maker) needed for preparation and serving of food for each Watch and Station.

The Union may submit, at budget preparation time, a list of recommended replacement items, for the consideration of the Fire Chief or designee.

As their conditions warrants, as determined by the Fire Chief/designee, the bedding (mattresses and box springs) for each station shall be replaced.

The ~~Employer~~ City agrees that bargaining unit members will not be responsible for maintaining the stations, other than minor maintenance and light housekeeping (i.e. cleaning dishes, picking up garbage, picking up small, loose limbs outdoors). Bargaining unit members shall not be responsible for lawn care, tree cutting, and maintenance of the stations.

ARTICLE 37

ADVISORY COMMITTEE

1. It is agreed that there is hereby established a joint advisory committee, which shall consist of no more than a total of six (6) members from the IAFF bargaining unit and the City Manager or designee. Membership shall consist of persons from within this bargaining unit job classifications, and shall be on a rotating basis. Everyone who wishes to attend will ultimately do so, with a list being kept by the officers so that everyone gets an opportunity to attend. A list of bargaining unit attendees shall be given to the City designee at least one hour before the meeting, so as to allow for proper seating arrangements to be made. At least one officer shall be present at each committee meeting. The Manager may designate someone to fill in for him/her but it must be someone from outside the bargaining unit.
2. The advisory committee shall meet no less than on a quarterly basis, by mutual consent, and meetings may be held between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00p.m., Monday through Friday, or at another time mutually agreeable to both the Union and City Manager (or designee). If a meeting is held during working hours of an employee participant, said participant may be excused without loss of pay for the purpose. Attendance for a meeting outside the regular working hours shall not be deemed as time worked and participants will not receive additional pay or leave benefits. Meetings shall be held in the City Manager's conference room, upstairs, City Hall.

ARTICLE 38

EXCEPTIONS TO AGREEMENTS

The parties hereto agree that this Agreement is the entire agreement between the International Association of Firefighters, Local #1424, and the City of Key West, Florida and except as provided within specific Articles, that all collective bargaining negotiations are hereby concluded for its duration. The parties may by mutual written agreement reopen negotiations on any issue. This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements, amendments thereto, and letters of understanding

ARTICLE 39

TERMS OF AGREEMENT

1. This Agreement except as provided below, shall be effective upon ratification of the Parties, and shall remain in full force and effect until and including September 30, ~~2025~~ 2028.
2. Unless amended by mutual agreement, the Union shall notify the City, in writing, between February 1 and March 1, ~~2025~~ 2028, of its readiness to start negotiations, and shall submit, in writing, any proposed additions, revisions, modifications or deletions.
3. The City shall, within thirty (30) days of notification (in #2) advise the Union of the date for the opening of negotiations, and shall submit to the Union, in writing, Employer proposed additions, revisions, modifications or deletions.

SIGNED THIS 8TH ~~DAY OF AUGUST, 2024~~ _____

CITY OF KEY WEST

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION
OF FIREFIGHTERS LOCAL 1424

~~Todd Stoughton – Interim City Manager~~
Brian Barroso – City Manager

John Torres – President

~~Steven P. McAlearney – Interim ACM~~
Rodrigo Delostrinos - ACM

Hilary Matas – Vice President

Bridget Flores – HR Director

Angelina Maltese - Secretary

Randy Monahan - Treasurer

ATTACHMENT A - JOB DESCRIPTIONS

FIREFIGHTER

DRIVER/ ENGINEER

RESCUE LIEUTENANT


LIEUTENANT INSPECTOR

CAPTAIN INSPECTOR

FIRE CAPTAIN

EMS CAPTAIN

SHIFT COMMANDER

	CITY OF KEY WEST Job Description	UNION, NON-EXEMPT POSITION	
		DATE OF REVISION	10/2025
POSITION	FIREFIGHTER	ANNUAL SALARY	Step Plan
DEPARTMENT	FIRE 22-01-522		
JOB CODE	10033	GRADE	F21

PHYSICAL LOCATION:

Any of the Fire Stations

REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES:

Captain or Shift Commander

GENERAL FUNCTIONS:

This is general firefighting work in combating, extinguishing and preventing fires, and Emergency Medical Services (EMS) treating and transporting patients. Work involves responsibility for the performance of strenuous work of a specialized nature in combating, extinguishing, or preventing fire, often under hazardous conditions, and providing EMS care to the current level of certification held by the person. Specific orders and directions are received from a superior officer, but the work requires a knowledge and understanding of fire/EMS methods and techniques, which is gained by certified training and experience. Difficult and hazardous work is performed under the immediate supervision of a superior officer, but the employee may be called upon to work independently without direct supervision.

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS (Without Accommodations):

- Able to read, write, speak and understand English well enough to operate in emergency conditions without becoming confused.
- Physically able to perform strenuous work of a specialized nature directed at extinguishing and preventing fire in hazardous conditions.
- Able to use equipment and/or materials as specified in this job description.
- Have a safe driving record, EVOC training and a valid Florida driver's license.

EQUIPMENT TO BE USED:

All firefighting and EMS tools and equipment

ENVIRONMENT:

Inside station and outside in all types of weather conditions.

PHYSICAL REQUIREMENT:

Standing	40%
Climbing	10%
Bending	10%
Reaching	10%
Swimming	10%
Sitting	10%
Walking	10%

DUTIES/TASKS/JOBS:

- Responds to fire alarms with a fire company; lays out and connects hose; holds nozzle and directs water or foam at the blaze; climbs ladder, uses chemical lines and extinguisher, axes, claw tools, ceiling hooks and other equipment.
- Makes opening in burning building for ventilation and entry; removes persons from burning or danger areas; prevents the spread of fire and protects property from damage by water or other firefighting materials.
- Administers EMS to persons suffering from injury or illness, extricates trapped persons.
- Performs routine housekeeping duties at a fire station, such as cleaning walls, windows, and floors; cares for, maintains and tests apparatus and equipment; makes minor repairs to the station and maintains grounds.
- Participates in company drills on such subjects as firefighting methods, equipment operation, EMS care and street and hydrant location.
- Performs fire department or fire service related work as required.
- Maintains, throughout employment with City, both Firefighter and Emergency Medical Technical certification.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE/ SKILLS/ ABILITIES/ QUALIFICATIONS:

- Able to use firefighting tools and equipment.
- Able to perform under stress in emergency conditions.
- Able to take and follow direct orders
- Able to present a well-groomed appearance
- Able to pass physical agility test
- Florida State Firefighter Certification required. ~~State-certified firefighter.~~
- Florida State Emergency Medical Technician certification required. ~~State-certified EMT license.~~
- High school or equivalent diploma
- Must possess and maintain a valid Florida driver's license
- Must possess an Emergency Vehicle Operator's Course (EVOC) certificate, prior to hire.
- Paramedic preferred.

Periodically Fire related duties, equipment, material, and/or job setting(s), other than those listed, are required to perform this job and will be considered as part of the regular job while in effect.

The listing of tasks is in no way to be considered a complete listing of all possible tasks, nor is the requirement for an ability or skill a guarantee that the ability or skill is going to be used.

I _____, have read this job description and hereby agree with the above noted "Acknowledgements", that I meet the requirements and qualifications and if hired, can perform these and related duties as assigned. I further affirm that I understand this job description may be amended in times of emergency, as is the right of the City.

Applicant Signature

Date

**THE CITY OF KEY WEST IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AFFIRMATIVE ACTION
VETERANS PREFERENCE EMPLOYER & A DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE**

E-Verify Identification # 1007014


Apply at:

City Hall, Office of Human Resources

1300 White Street

Key West, FL 33040

Office Telephone: (305) 809-3714

	CITY OF KEY WEST Job Description	Union, Non-Exempt Position	
		REVISED	10/2025
POSITION	DRIVER/ENGINEER	ANNUAL SALARY	Step Plan
DEPARTMENT	Fire (22-01-522)		
JOB CODE	10234	GRADE	F31

PHYSICAL LOCATION:

Any of the Stations

REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES:

Captain or Shift Commander

GENERAL FUNCTIONS:

This is specialized firefighting work in driving, maintenance and operating heavy firefighting apparatus. Employees are responsible for safely driving firefighter apparatus to and from alarms and for the efficient operation of pumps at the scene of the fire. Although the operation of equipment is the most difficult and responsible part of the work, a large part of the time is spent in study, inspection and maintenance of apparatus operated, and supervision is received from department superiors. Provides Emergency Medical Service (EMS) care to the current level of certification held by the person.

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS (Without Accommodations):

- Able to read, write speak and understand English in order to perform duties of this description
- Physically able to perform strenuous work of a specialized nature directed at extinguishing fire, EMS response and working in hazardous conditions.
- Able to use equipment and/or materials as specified in this job description
- Have a safe driving record, EVOC training and a valid Florida driver's license.

EQUIPMENT TO BE USED:

All firefighting tools, equipment and drive and operate a fire truck

ENVIRONMENT:

Inside station and outside in all types of weather conditions.

PHYSICAL REQUIREMENT:

Standing	40%
Climbing	10%
Bending	10%
Reaching	10%
Swimming	10%
Sitting	10%
Walking	10%

DUTIES/TASKS/JOB:

- Drive fire pumper and trucks to scene of fire and prepares for pumping operation by seeing that hydrant connections are made; pumps water to fire at a designated pressure and sees that suction hose and fire hose are properly located; watches condition of motor and unit during operation and makes necessary adjustments or change.
- Operates all apparatus and equipment in Fire Department, as appropriate.
- Shall perform firefighting/EMS response duties as required
- Participates in fire drills and attends classes in firefighting, hydraulics, pump operations and first aid.
- Checks engine daily and inspects pumping equipment; cleans equipment after returning from a fire.
- Assists in keeping fire station in a clean and orderly condition.
- Performs fire department or fire service-related work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE/ SKILLS/ ABILITIES/ QUALIFICATIONS:

- Thorough knowledge of modern firefighting principles, practices and procedures including a working knowledge of hydraulics and fire pumps.
- Thorough knowledge of and skill in the operation and maintenance of the various types of apparatus and equipment used in firefighting activities.
- Knowledge of the physical layout of the City including the fire hydrants and street system.
- Knowledge of fire department rules and regulations; knowledge of first aid principles and skill in their application.
- Ability to react quickly and calmly in emergency conditions.
- Ability to operate heavy fire apparatus safely and efficiently.
- Ability to make mental calculations of engine pressures required for necessary hook-ups.
- Extensive experience in firefighting work required.
- Graduation from a standard high school or GED required.
- Previous experience in operating heavy fire equipment and related equipment required.
- Ability to assume the role of acting Captain, if necessary, required.
- Safe Driving record required.
- Completion of courses in fire pumps, fire stream hydraulics, or any other courses related to fire-pump Operations desirable.
- Completion of supervisory courses (Fire tactics, company officer) desirable.
- Florida State Fire Inspector I certification **required**. desirable
- **Florida State Fire Officer I certification required**. ~~Florida State Emergency Medical Technician certification.~~
- Florida State Pump Operator Certification required.
- **Required to have completed Three (3) years of service as a firefighter in the Key West Fire Department and have a minimum of one (1) year as an acting Driver Engineer.**

Periodically Fire related duties, equipment, material, and/or job setting(s), other than those listed, are required to perform this job and will be considered as part of the regular job while in effect.

The listing of tasks is in no way to be considered a complete listing of all possible tasks, nor is the requirement for an ability or skill a guarantee that the ability or skill is going to be used.

I _____, have read this job description and hereby agree with the above noted "Acknowledgements", that I meet the requirements and qualifications and if hired, can perform these and related duties as assigned. I further affirm that I understand this job description may be amended in times of emergency, as is the right of the City.


Applicant Signature

Date

**THE CITY OF KEY WEST IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY
AFFIRMATIVE ACTION VETERANS PREFERENCE EMPLOYER
& A DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE**

Apply at:

**City Hall, Office of Human Resources
1300 White Street
Key West, FL 33040
Office Telephone: (305) 809-3714
Fax: (305) 809-3719**

	CITY OF KEY WEST Job Description	Union, Non-Exempt Position	
		REVISED	10/2025
POSITION	Rescue Lieutenant		
DEPARTMENT	Fire (22-01-522)	ANNUAL SALARY	STEP PLAN
JOB CODE	44125	GRADE	F31

PHYSICAL LOCATION:

Any of the Stations

REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES:

Captain, Shift Commander, or Division Chief as appropriate

GENERAL FUNCTIONS:

This is specialized firefighting and Emergency Medical Services (EMS) work supervising activities of all EMS operations. Employees are responsible for safely managing EMS personnel, equipment, and supplies. Although the operation of EMS is the most difficult and responsible part of the work, a large part of the time is spent in study, inspection and maintenance of EMS units operated. This position will include responding to emergency medical calls to provide treatment and transport as well as performing the role of incident commander on EMS calls as appropriate. This position will include the responsibility of ensuring all medical protocols established by the medical director are strictly followed and all Patient Care Reports are completed accurately and within an established time frame.

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS (Without Accommodations):

- Able to read, write speak and understand English in order to perform duties of this description.
- Physically able to perform strenuous work of a specialized nature directed at extinguishing and preventing fire in hazardous conditions.
- Able to use equipment and/or materials as specified in this job description.
- Have a safe driving record and valid Florida driver's license.

EQUIPMENT TO BE USED:

All firefighting tools, EMS supplies, medications, equipment and drive and operate a fire truck and/or ALS transport unit.

ENVIRONMENT:

Inside station and outside in all types of weather conditions.

PHYSICAL REQUIREMENT:

Standing 40%
Climbing 10%
Bending 10%
Reaching 10%
Swimming 10%

Sitting 10%
Walking 10%

DUTIES/TASKS/JOB:

- Operates all EMS units and equipment in the Fire Department, as appropriate.
- Shall perform firefighting and EMS duties as required.
- Participates in EMS presentations and provides training to further knowledge of personnel.
- Checks EMS units daily and inspects all medical equipment; cleans equipment daily, and after every patient contact.
- Assists in keeping the fire station in a clean and orderly condition.
- Performs fire department or fire service-related work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE/ SKILLS/ ABILITIES/ QUALIFICATIONS:

- Thorough knowledge of modern fire fighting principles, practices and procedures including a working knowledge of hydraulics and fire pumps.
- Thorough knowledge of all Medical Protocols established by the Medical Director.
- Thorough knowledge of all Fire Department SOG's with emphasis on Medical Response.
- Thorough knowledge of and skill in the operation and maintenance of the various types of apparatus and equipment used in firefighting and EMS activities.
- Knowledge of the physical layout of the City including the senior centers, public housing, assisted living facilities and street system.
- Knowledge of fire department rules and regulations; knowledge of ALS principles and skill in their application.
- Ability to react quickly and calmly in emergency conditions.
- Ability to operate heavy fire apparatus and EMS units safely and efficiently.
- Extensive experience in EMS work required.
- Graduation from a standard high school or GED required.
- Previous experience in operating heavy fire equipment / EMS and related equipment required.
- Ability to assume the role of watch officer, if necessary, required.
- Safe Driving record required.
- Completion of courses in Emergency Medical Technician Paramedic including ACLS.
- Completion of supervisory courses (Fire tactics, company officer) desirable.
- Florida State Fire Inspector I certification ~~desirable~~ **required**.
- **Florida State Fire Pump Operator certification required.**
- **Florida State Fire Officer I certification required.**
- Florida State Emergency Medical Technician Paramedic certification required.
- ~~Three (3) years as a firefighter in the Key West Fire Department~~
- **Approval by the Medical Director to provide ALS level of care and work in the capacity of a Rescue Lieutenant**
- **Required to complete three consecutive (3) years of service as a firefighter in the Key West Fire Department, and at least two (2) years of service as a Key West Fire Department Paramedic and one (1) year as an acting Rescue Lieutenant approved by the Medical Director.**
- **Required to maintain the following current and valid EMS Certifications: ACLS (Advanced Cardiac Life Support) Instructor; PALS (Pediatric Advanced Life Support) Instructor; BLS (Basic Life Support) Instructor; ASLS – Advanced Stroke Life Support; and PHTLS – Prehospital Trauma Life Support.**
- ~~One (1) year as a KWFD Paramedic, with the exception of anyone who had served in that role~~

prior to 10/1/2018.

Periodically Fire and EMS related duties, equipment, material, and/or job setting(s), other than those listed, are required to perform this job and will be considered as part of the regular job while in effect.

The listing of tasks is in no way to be considered a complete listing of all possible tasks, nor is the requirement for an ability or skill a guarantee that the ability or skill is going to be used.

I _____, have read this job description and hereby agree with the above noted "Acknowledgements", that I meet the requirements and qualifications and if hired, can perform these and related duties as assigned. I further affirm that I understand this job description may be amended in times of emergency, as is the right of the City.


Applicant Signature

Date

**THE CITY OF KEY WEST IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY
AFFIRMATIVE ACTION VETERANS PREFERENCE EMPLOYER
& A DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE**

Apply at:

**City Hall, Office of Human Resources
1300 White Street
Key West, FL 33040
Telephone (305) 809-3714 – Fax (305) 809-3719**

	CITY OF KEY WEST Job Description	UNION, NON-EXEMPT POSITION	
		REVISED	10/2025
POSITION	LT. INSPECTOR	ANNUAL SALARY	Step Plan
DEPARTMENT	FIRE 22-01-522		
JOB CODE	43165	GRADE	F32

PHYSICAL LOCATION:

Fire Prevention Bureau

REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES:

Fire Marshal

GENERAL FUNCTIONS:

This is specialized work in fire inspection of all buildings and promotion of fire prevention. As well as investigation of all fires as to the cause and origin and determining if the attempt of arson has been committed. Employees are responsible for inspecting all public buildings and places of assembly to ensure safety from fire and to instruct owners and tenants as to special fire appliances needed and the locations of these appliances. Maintain records of all inspections, to ensure that records of all fire alarm and fire suppression systems are complete and accurate. Report all discrepancies and other information to the fire marshal, as required by him. Enforce all regulations and codes of the City and State as pertains to fire and safety of the public. May also be used in combat division as required.

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS (Without Accommodations):

- Able to read, write speak and understand English in order to perform duties of this description.
- Able to prepare all reports required by the City and State regulations.
- Able to use equipment and/or materials as specified in this job description.
- Have a safe driving record, EVOC training and a valid Florida driver's license.

EQUIPMENT TO BE USED:

- All tools and equipment needed to perform this job.
- Able to drive a city vehicle.

ENVIRONMENT:

- Inside the office and outside in all types of weather conditions.

PHYSICAL REQUIREMENT:

Standing	40%
Climbing	10%
Bending	10%
Reaching	10%
Swimming	10%
Sitting	10%
Walking	10%

DUTIES/TASKS/JOB:

- Makes personal and thorough inspections of existing buildings. Will check exits, extinguishers, trash accumulation, housekeeping, electrical hazards, storage of explosives and flammable liquids, etc.
- Assists in training of other personnel in arson detection, preplanning of fire operations, and other phases of fire fighting activities.
- Maintains up-to-date records of inspections, hazards, location of explosives and flammable liquids, storage, large amounts of flammable or toxic materials, etc.
- Promotes fire prevention programs at every opportunity; checks fire drills in all schools, assists school personnel, as applicable, to assure best method of fire prevention.
- Performs fire department or fire service-related work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE/ SKILLS/ ABILITIES/ QUALIFICATIONS:

- All knowledge and skills required for the job of firefighter.
- Knowledge of hazards and proper preventive method.
- Some knowledge of electrical equipment and wiring.
- Some knowledge of construction and good building methods.
- Ability to establish and maintain good working relations with fellow workers and the public.
- Ability to prepare and present fire education programs to the public.
- Ability to instruct members of department in fire prevention and fire safety activities.
- Ability to prepare and present oral and written material pertaining to fire prevention and fire service activities.
- Considerable experience in firefighting work and graduation from a standard high school or G.E.D. equivalent required.
- Florida State Firefighter, Pump Operator, and Fire Officer I certification required.
- Florida State Fire Inspector I certification required.
- Florida State Fire Investigator certification required.
- Florida State Fire Safety-Instructor I certification ~~desirable~~ required.
- Florida State Emergency Medical Technician certification ~~desirable~~ required.
- A.S. Degree in Fire Science desirable.
- Minimum 3 years with the Key West Fire Department.

Periodically Fire related duties, equipment, material, and/or job setting(s), other than those listed, are required to perform this job and will be considered as part of the regular job while in effect.

The listing of tasks is in no way to be considered a complete listing of all possible tasks, nor is the requirement for an ability or skill a guarantee that the ability or skill is going to be used.

I _____, have read this job description and hereby agree with the above noted "Acknowledgements", that I meet the requirements and qualifications and if hired, can perform these and related duties as assigned. I further affirm that I understand this job description may be amended in times of emergency, as is the right of the City.


Applicant Signature

Date

**THE CITY OF KEY WEST IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY, AFFIRMATIVE ACTION
VETERANS PREFERENCE EMPLOYER & A DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE**

Apply at:

**City Hall, Office of Human Resources
1300 White Street
Key West, FL 33040
Office Telephone: (305) 809-3714**

	CITY OF KEY WEST Job Description	UNION, NON-EXEMPT POSITION	
		DATE OF REVISION	10/2025
POSITION	CAPTAIN INSPECTOR FIRE 022-01-522	ANNUAL SALARY	Step Plan
DEPARTMENT			
JOB CODE	43175	GRADE	F42

PHYSICAL LOCATION:Fire Prevention Office [Bureau](#)**REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES:**

Fire Marshal

GENERAL FUNCTIONS:

- This is supervisory work as commanding officer in fire inspection of all buildings and promotion of fire prevention. As well as investigation of all fires as to the cause and origin and determining if the attempt of arson has been committed.
- Work involves responsibility for directing firefighting work, preventing/investigating fires, training and supervising subordinate personnel in this activity. As well as the additional responsibility for the training and discipline of subordinates. Work is performed as directed by the Fire Marshal with considerable independence within general departmental rules and regulations. Supervision is received from the Fire Marshal, who reviews work through periodic activity and reports and through personal conferences on unusual problems.
- Work also involves responsibility for inspecting all public buildings and places of assembly to ensure safety from fire and to instruct owners and tenants as to special fire and life safety appliances needed and the locations of these appliances.
- Maintains records of all inspections, to ensure that records of all fire alarm and fire suppression systems are complete and accurate. Reports all discrepancies and other information to the fire marshal. Enforce all regulations and codes of the City and State as pertains to fire and safety of the public. May also be used in combat division as required to assist with firefighting and EMS care to the current level of certification held by the person.
- This position includes Fire Academy coordination as needed. Provide instruction, create schedules, develop syllabi and communicate with other agencies involved.

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS (Without Accommodations):

- Able to read, write, speak and understand English in order to perform duties of this description.
- Able to prepare all reports required by City and State regulations.
- Able to use equipment and/or materials as specified in this job description.

- Must have a safe driving record, EVOC training and a valid Florida driver's license.

CAPTAIN INSPECTOR – Fire**Page 2****EQUIPMENT TO BE USED:**

- All tools and equipment needed to perform this job
- Able to drive a city vehicle.

ENVIRONMENT:

Inside office and outside in all types of weather conditions.

PHYSICAL REQUIREMENT:

Standing	40%
Climbing	10%
Bending	10%
Reaching	10%
Swimming	10%
Sitting	10%
Walking	10%

DUTIES/TASKS/JOBS:

- Trains, supervises, and directs subordinate firefighting and fire prevention personnel.
- Makes personal and thorough inspections of existing buildings; checking exits, extinguishers, trash accumulation, housekeeping, electrical hazards, storage of explosives and flammable liquids, etc.
- Assists in training of other personnel in arson detection, preplanning of fire operations, and other phases of fire fighting activities.
- Maintains up-to-date records of inspections, hazards, location of explosives and flammable liquids, storage, large amounts of flammable or toxic materials, etc.
- Promotes fire prevention programs at every opportunity; checks fire drills in all schools, assists school personnel, as applicable, to assure best method of fire prevention.
- Key West High School Fire Academy coordination including: instruction, scheduling, development and communication to ensure a successful class environment.
- Performs fire department or fire/EMS service-related work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE/ SKILLS/ ABILITIES/ QUALIFICATIONS:

- All knowledge and skills required of the firefighter job.
- Knowledge of hazards and proper preventive method.
- Some knowledge of electrical equipment and wiring.
- Some knowledge of construction and good building methods.
- Ability to maintain discipline and supervise the work of subordinate personnel.
- Ability to establish and maintain good working relations with fellow workers and public.
- Ability to prepare and present fire education programs to the public.
- Ability to instruct members of department in fire prevention and fire safety activities.
- Ability to prepare and present oral and written material pertaining to fire prevention and fire service activities.
- Considerable supervisory experience in firefighting work and graduation from a standard high school or G.E.D. equivalent required.

- Florida State Pump Operator certification required.
- Florida State Firefighter certification required.
- Florida State Fire Officer I certification required.
- Florida State Fire Inspector I certification required.
- Florida State Fire Investigator certification-desirable required.
- Fire ~~Safety~~ Instructor I certification required.
- Florida State Emergency Medical Technician certification required.

CAPTAIN INSPECTOR - Fire**Page 3**

- A.S. Degree in Fire Science desirable.
- Completion of courses relating to fire service operations, fire prevention, fire service training and supervision desirable.
- ~~Minimum 3 years' experience firefighting and 3 years as Driver/Engineer or Lt. Inspector with the Key West Fire Department, unless Article 24 is in effect.~~ Hold the rank of Driver Engineer, Rescue Lieutenant, or Lt. Fire Inspector with the Key West Fire Department for a minimum of two (2) years.

Periodically Fire related duties, equipment, material, and/or job setting(s), other than those listed, are required to perform this job and will be considered as part of the regular job while in effect.

The listing of tasks is in no way to be considered a complete listing of all possible tasks, nor is the requirement for an ability or skill a guarantee that the ability or skill is going to be used.

I _____, have read this job description and hereby agree with the above noted "Acknowledgements", that I meet the requirements and qualifications and if hired, can perform these and related duties as assigned. I further affirm that I understand this job description may be amended in times of emergency, as is the right of the City.


Applicant Signature

Date

THE CITY OF KEY WEST IS AN
EQUAL OPPORTUNITY, AFFIRMATIVE ACTION
VETERANS PREFERENCE EMPLOYER
& A DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE

Apply at:

City Hall, Office of Human Resources
1300 White Street
Key West, FL 33040
Telephone (305) 809-3714
Fax (305) 809-3719

	CITY OF KEY WEST Job Description	UNION, NON-EXEMPT POSITION	
		REVISED	10/2025
POSITION	FIRE CAPTAIN	ANNUAL SALARY	Step Plan
DEPARTMENT	FIRE 22-01-522		
JOB CODE	10017	GRADE	F41

PHYSICAL LOCATION:

Any Key West Fire Station

REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES:

Shift Commander

GENERAL FUNCTIONS:

This is supervisory firefighting, Emergency Medical Service (EMS) and fire prevention work as the commanding officer of an assigned shift. Work involves responsibility for directing firefighting work in combating, extinguishing, and preventing structural and flammable liquid fires and in training and supervising subordinate personnel in this activity. Will provide EMS care to the current level of certification held by the person. He/she has the additional responsibility for the training and discipline of personnel on their shift and for the maintenance of the fire station, apparatus and equipment. Work is performed as directed by the chief with considerable independence within general departmental rules and regulations. Supervision is received from the Shift Commander, who reviews work through periodic activity and reports, and through personal conferences on unusual problems.

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS (Without Accommodations):

- Able to read, write speak and understand English in order to perform duties of this description.
- Able to prepare all reports needed for that shift.
- Able to use equipment and/or materials as specified in this job description.
- Have and maintain a safe driving record, EVOC training and a valid Florida driver's license.

EQUIPMENT TO BE USED:

All firefighting/EMS tools, equipment and any other equipment needed.

ENVIRONMENT:

Inside station and outside in all types of weather conditions.

PHYSICAL REQUIREMENT:

Standing	40%
Climbing	10%
Bending	10%
Reaching	10%
Swimming	10%
Sitting	10%
Walking	10%

DUTIES/TASKS/JOB:

- Trains, supervises and directs subordinate fire fighting personnel on assigned shift in the extinguishing of structural, flammable liquid, and grass fires; directs the placing of fire fighting equipment and apparatus to allow for the effective and efficient extinguishing of fire and for the rescue of person(s) who may be trapped or who are injured by fire.
- Directs the cleaning of quarters and of equipment and apparatus at the fire station on assigned shift, inspects personnel and maintains discipline; instructs and drills personnel in modern firefighting methods.
- Maintains records and prepares reports regarding personnel, alarms, supplies and other matters relating to the department, on an assigned shift.
- Performs fire department and fire/EMS work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE/ SKILLS/ ABILITIES/ QUALIFICATIONS:

- Thorough knowledge of modern firefighting principles, practices and methods.
- Considerable knowledge of the operation and maintenance of various types of apparatus and equipment used in firefighting activities, together with the ability to supervise the effective use of such equipment and apparatus.
- Considerable knowledge of EMS principles and skill in their application.
- Thorough knowledge of instructing and training members of the fire department.
- Ability to maintain discipline and supervise the work of subordinate personnel.
- Ability to maintain accurate records and prepare accurate reports.
- Ability to write and speak effectively.
- Physical strength and ability and freedom from disabling defects.
- Considerable supervisory experience in firefighting work and graduation from a standard high school or GED equivalent required.
- Florida State Fire Fighter certification required.
- Florida State Fire Pump Operator certification required.
- Florida State Fire Instructor I certification required.
- Florida State Fire Officer II certification required.
- Florida State Fire Inspector I certification required.
- Florida State Emergency Medical Technician certification required.
- ~~Minimum 3 years experience firefighter and 2 years driver unless Article 24 is in effect.~~
- Hold the rank of Driver Engineer or Rescue Lieutenant with the Key West Fire Department for a minimum of two (2) years and have a minimum of two (2) years of experience as an acting Captain.
- A.S. Degree in Fire Service desirable.
- Completion of courses relating to fire service operations, fire service training and supervision desirable.

CAPTAIN - Fire**Page 3**

Periodically Fire related duties, equipment, material, and/or job setting(s), other than those listed, are required to perform this job and will be considered as part of the regular job while in effect.

The listing of tasks is in no way to be considered a complete listing of all possible tasks, nor is the requirement for an ability or skill a guarantee that the ability or skill is going to be used.

I _____, have read this job description and hereby agree with the above noted "Acknowledgements", that I meet the requirements and qualifications and if hired, can perform these and related duties as assigned. I further affirm that I understand this job description may be amended in times of emergency, as is the right of the City.


Applicant Signature

Date

**THE CITY OF KEY WEST IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AFFIRMATIVE ACTION
VETERANS PREFERENCE
& A DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE**

Apply at:

**City Hall, Office of Human Resources
1300 White Street
Key West, FL 33040
Office Telephone: (305) 809-3714
Fax: (305)809-3719**

	CITY OF KEY WEST Job Description	Union, Non-Exempt Position	
		REVISED	10/2025
POSITION	EMS CAPTAIN/LOGISTICS	SALARY	\$91,575 STEP <u>PLAN</u>
DEPARTMENT	Fire <u>EMS</u> <u>(2601)</u> (TBD)		
JOB CODE	TBD <u>10005</u>	GRADE	E41

PHYSICAL LOCATION:

EMS Office

REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES:

EMS Chief

GENERAL FUNCTIONS:

This is supervisory work as commanding officer specialized in firefighting and Emergency Medical Services (EMS). Perform professional and responsible administrative and operational work in the EMS Division. Supervise the direct operation of emergency and non-emergency services at scene when needed. Effectively execute supervisory duties to meet department objectives. Work involves responsibility for supervising activities of all EMS operations and firefighting as needed. Assists in Quality Assurance and Quality Improvement within the department.

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS (Without Accommodations):

- Able to read, write, speak, and understand English in order to perform duties of this description.
- Physically able to perform strenuous work of a specialized nature directed at extinguishing and preventing fire, and EMS work in hazardous conditions.
- Able to use equipment and/or materials as specified in this job description.
- Have a safe driving record, 16-hour EVOC training certification and a valid Florida driver's license.

EQUIPMENT TO BE USED:

All firefighting tools, EMS supplies, medications, equipment, and safely operate any and all KWFD vehicles and vessels.

ENVIRONMENT:

Inside the office and outside in all types of weather conditions.

PHYSICAL REQUIREMENT:

Standing	40%
Climbing	10%
Bending	10%
Reaching	10%

Swimming	10%
Sitting	10%
Walking	10%

DUTIES/TASKS/JOB:

- Operates all vehicles, vessels, and equipment in the Fire Department, as appropriate.
- Compiles statistical data, incident and EPCR review, research analysis, planning.
- Ensures operational readiness and state of Florida compliant of Fire/EMS apparatus's, equipment, logistics, and medical supplies for day-to-day operations.
- Liaison to other agencies and facilities on matters concerning medical operations, procedures, protocols, planning, implementation.
- Shall perform firefighting and EMS duties as required.
- Participates in EMS presentations, participate and provide training to further knowledge of personnel.
- Performs fire department or fire/EMS service-related work as required.
- Administers and supervises advanced life support emergency techniques as defined and authorized by the EMS Chief and Medical Director.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE/ SKILLS/ ABILITIES/ QUALIFICATIONS:

- Thorough knowledge of modern EMS and firefighting principles, practices, and methods.
- Thorough knowledge of the operation and maintenance of various types of apparatus and equipment used in firefighting and EMS activities.
- Thorough knowledge of instructing and training members of the fire department.
- Ability to maintain discipline and supervise the work of subordinate personnel.
- Ability to maintain accurate records and prepare accurate reports.
- Ability to write and speak effectively.
- Physical strength and ability and freedom from disabling defects.
- Thorough supervisory experience in firefighting and EMS work.
- Graduation from a standard high school or GED equivalent required.
- Florida Minimum Standards Firefighter Certification (Firefighter II).
- State of Florida Paramedic certification required.
- Required to complete a minimum of three (3) years as Key West Fire Department Paramedic approved by the Medical Director.
- Thorough knowledge of all Medical Protocols established by the Medical Director.
- Thorough knowledge of City and departmental procedures, policies, and guidelines.
- Ability to react quickly and calmly in emergency conditions.
- Ability to operate heavy fire apparatus and EMS units safely and efficiently.
- Extensive experience in EMS work required.
- Previous experience in operating heavy fire equipment / EMS and related equipment required.
- Safe Driving record required.
- Florida State Fire Pump Operator certification required.
- Florida State Fire Officer I certification required.
- Florida State Fire Officer II certification required. 2 and 3 certifications desirable
- Florida State Fire Instructor certification required.
- Florida State Fire Inspector I certification required.
- ~~Minimum of 3 years' experience as firefighter and 3 years' experience as Rescue Lieutenant and/or Driver Engineer with the Key West Fire Department unless Article 24 is in effect.~~
- Hold the rank of Driver Engineer or Rescue Lieutenant with the Key West Fire Department for a minimum of three (3) years (cumulative service across either rank is acceptable).

- ~~ACLS/BLS/PALS instructor required within 6 months.~~ Maintain the following current and valid EMS Certifications: ACLS (Advanced Cardiac Life Support) Instructor; PALS (Pediatric Advanced Life Support) Instructor; BLS (Basic Life Support) Instructor; ASLS – Advanced Stroke Life Support; and PHTLS – Prehospital Trauma Life Support.

Periodically Fire and EMS related duties, equipment, material, and/or job setting(s), other than those listed, are required to perform this job and will be considered as part of the regular job while in effect.

The listing of tasks is in no way to be considered a complete listing of all possible tasks, nor is the requirement for an ability or skill a guarantee that the ability or skill is going to be used.

I _____, have read this job description and hereby agree with the above noted "Acknowledgements", that I meet the requirements and qualifications and if hired, can perform these and related duties as assigned. I further affirm that I understand this job description may be amended in times of emergency, as is the right of the City.

Applicant Signature

Date

**THE CITY OF KEY WEST IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY
AFFIRMATIVE ACTION VETERANS PREFERENCE EMPLOYER
& A DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE**

Apply at:

**City Hall, Office of Human Resources
1300 White Street
Key West, FL 33040
Telephone (305) 809-3714 – Fax (305) 809-3719**

	THE CITY OF KEY WEST Job Description	Union, Non-Exempt Position	
		REVISED	10/2025
POSITION	SHIFT COMMANDER	ANNUAL SALARY	Step Plan
DEPARTMENT	Fire (22-01-522)		
JOB CODE	42160	GRADE	F51

PHYSICAL LOCATION:

Any of the Fire Stations

REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES:

~~Operations Commander~~ Deputy Fire Chief

GENERAL FUNCTIONS:

This is supervisory and technical work in assisting the Division Chiefs and/or Fire Chief in the direction of firefighting, Emergency Medical Service (EMS) and fire prevention services. Work requires ~~that~~ this employee to be continually available to take active command of extinguishing major fires. Work is performed in accordance with departmental regulations and is subject to review by the Division Chiefs and/or Fire Chief but requires the exercise of independent judgment. The employee has general supervision over all personnel in the fire companies. Provides EMS care to the current level of certification held by the person. In the absence or disability of the Division Chiefs and/or Fire Chief, an employee of this class may be assigned to direct any or all operations and functions of the Fire Department.

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS (Without Accommodations):

- Able to read, write speak and understand English in order to perform duties of this description.
- Able to prepare all reports needed for that shift.
- Able to use equipment and/or materials as specified in this job description.
- Have a safe driving record, EVOC training and a valid Florida driver's license.

EQUIPMENT TO BE USED:

All firefighting/EMS tools, equipment and any other equipment needed.

ENVIRONMENT:

Inside station and outside in all types of weather conditions.

PHYSICAL REQUIREMENT:

Standing 40%

Climbing	10%
Bending	10%
Reaching	10%
Swimming	10%
Sitting	10%
Walking	10%

DUTIES/TASKS/JOBS:

- Acts as first in command of major firefighting operations in the absence of the Division Chiefs and/or Fire Chief.
- Assists the Division Chiefs and/or Fire Chief in the combat aspect of the management of the department; responds to fire alarms and determines whether the Division Chiefs and/or Fire Chief are needed at the scene, determines what equipment and apparatus are necessary; makes decisions as to the best methods of extinguishing fires and directs the work of personnel until relieved of commands by the Division Chiefs and/or Fire Chief.
- Inspects personnel, maintains discipline, effects and recommends disciplinary measures, and issues and transmits orders to personnel and fire units.
- Performs assigned administrative or technical duties in the maintenance, training, recording and reporting functions of the department.
- Investigates major complaints from the public in the absence of the Division Chiefs and/or Fire Chief.
- Performs fire department or fire/EMS service-related work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE/ SKILLS/ ABILITIES/ QUALIFICATIONS:

- Thorough knowledge of the principles, practices, procedures and equipment used in modern firefighting and protection of lives and property.
- Thorough knowledge of fire hazards and of fire prevention and protective methods.
- Thorough knowledge of the geography of the city.
- Thorough knowledge of the rules and regulations of the department and an ability to reference and interpret the laws and ordinances pertaining to fire safety.
- Ability to take command at serious fires and to lead personnel and give orders effectively.
- Ability to establish and maintain effective working relationships with other employees and members of the public.
- Considerable experience as a Firefighter, Engineer and Fire Captain required.
- Graduation from a standard high school or GED equivalent required.
- Florida State Firefighter Certification required.
- Florida State Fire Pump Operator certification required
- ~~State Certified Fire Inspector desirable~~
- Florida State Fire Inspector I required.
- Florida State Fire Officer II required.
- A.S. Fire Science Degree desirable.
- Florida State Emergency Medical Technician certification required.
- Florida State Fire Service Instructor I certification desirable required.
- ~~Completion of Fire Service Instructors course (ffp2150) desirable.~~
- Completion of courses relating to fire service work and fire service supervision desirable.
- Minimum two (2) years as a Captain in the Key West Fire Department and a minimum of two

(2) years of experience as an acting Shift Commander.

Periodically Fire required duties, equipment, material, and/or job setting(s), other than those listed, are required to perform this job and will be considered as part of the regular job while in effect.

The listing of tasks is in no way to be considered a complete listing of all possible tasks, nor is the requirement for an ability or skill a guarantee that the ability or skill is going to be used.

I _____, have read this job description and hereby agree with the above noted "Acknowledgements", that I meet the requirements and qualifications and if hired, can perform these and related duties as assigned. I further affirm that I understand this job description may be amended in times of emergency, as is the right of the City.

Applicant Signature

Date

**THE CITY OF KEY WEST IS
AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY, AFFIRMATIVE ACTION
VETERAN'S PREFERENCE
& A DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE**

Apply at:

**City Hall, Office of Human Resources
1300 White Street
Key West, FL 33040
Office Telephone: (305) 809-3714**

City of Key West IAFF Proposed Steps

Firefighter/EMS

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,756 Hours
Hire	1	64,781		68,020	\$ 24.68	70,741	\$ 25.67	73,570	\$ 26.69
	2	68,201	5.28%	71,612	\$ 25.98	74,476	\$ 27.02	77,455	\$ 28.10
	3	69,906	2.50%	73,402	\$ 26.63	76,338	\$ 27.70	79,391	\$ 28.81
	4	71,654	2.50%	75,237	\$ 27.30	78,246	\$ 28.39	81,376	\$ 29.53
	5	73,445	2.50%	77,118	\$ 27.98	80,202	\$ 29.10	83,411	\$ 30.27
	6	75,281	2.50%	79,046	\$ 28.68	82,208	\$ 29.83	85,496	\$ 31.02
	7	77,163	2.50%	81,022	\$ 29.40	84,263	\$ 30.57	87,633	\$ 31.80
	8	79,092	2.50%	83,047	\$ 30.13	86,369	\$ 31.34	89,824	\$ 32.59
	9	81,070	2.50%	85,124	\$ 30.89	88,529	\$ 32.12	92,070	\$ 33.41
	10	83,096	2.50%	87,252	\$ 31.66	90,742	\$ 32.93	94,371	\$ 34.24
	11	85,174	2.50%	89,433	\$ 32.45	93,010	\$ 33.75	96,731	\$ 35.10
	12	87,303	2.50%	91,669	\$ 33.26	95,336	\$ 34.59	99,149	\$ 35.98
	13	89,486	2.50%	93,961	\$ 34.09	97,719	\$ 35.46	101,628	\$ 36.88
	14	91,723	2.50%	96,310	\$ 34.95	100,162	\$ 36.34	104,168	\$ 37.80
	15	94,016	2.50%	98,717	\$ 35.82	102,666	\$ 37.25	106,773	\$ 38.74
	16	96,366	2.50%	101,185	\$ 36.71	105,233	\$ 38.18	109,442	\$ 39.71
	17	98,775	2.50%	103,715	\$ 37.63	107,863	\$ 39.14	112,178	\$ 40.70
	18	101,245	2.50%	106,308	\$ 38.57	110,560	\$ 40.12	114,982	\$ 41.72
	19	103,776	2.50%	108,965	\$ 39.54	113,324	\$ 41.12	117,857	\$ 42.76
	20	106,370	2.50%	111,690	\$ 40.53	116,157	\$ 42.15	120,803	\$ 43.83

Driver-Engineer/Rescue Lieutenant

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,756 Hours
Hire	1								
	2								
	3								
	4	79,631	2.50%	83,613	\$ 30.34	86,957	\$ 31.55	90,435	\$ 32.81
	5	81,622	2.50%	85,703	\$ 31.10	89,131	\$ 32.34	92,696	\$ 33.63
	6	83,662	2.50%	87,845	\$ 31.87	91,359	\$ 33.15	95,014	\$ 34.48
	7	85,754	2.50%	90,042	\$ 32.67	93,643	\$ 33.98	97,389	\$ 35.34
	8	87,898	2.50%	92,293	\$ 33.49	95,984	\$ 34.83	99,824	\$ 36.22
	9	90,095	2.50%	94,600	\$ 34.33	98,384	\$ 35.70	102,319	\$ 37.13
	10	92,348	2.50%	96,965	\$ 35.18	100,844	\$ 36.59	104,877	\$ 38.05
	11	94,656	2.50%	99,389	\$ 36.06	103,365	\$ 37.51	107,499	\$ 39.01
	12	97,023	2.50%	101,874	\$ 36.96	105,949	\$ 38.44	110,187	\$ 39.98
	13	99,448	2.50%	104,421	\$ 37.89	108,597	\$ 39.40	112,941	\$ 40.98
	14	101,934	2.50%	107,031	\$ 38.84	111,312	\$ 40.39	115,765	\$ 42.00
	15	104,483	2.50%	109,707	\$ 39.81	114,095	\$ 41.40	118,659	\$ 43.05
	16	107,095	2.50%	112,450	\$ 40.80	116,948	\$ 42.43	121,625	\$ 44.13
	17	109,772	2.50%	115,261	\$ 41.82	119,871	\$ 43.49	124,666	\$ 45.23
	18	112,517	2.50%	118,142	\$ 42.87	122,868	\$ 44.58	127,783	\$ 46.37
	19	115,329	2.50%	121,096	\$ 43.94	125,940	\$ 45.70	130,977	\$ 47.52
	20	118,213	2.50%	124,123	\$ 45.04	129,088	\$ 46.84	134,252	\$ 48.71

Captain

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,756 Hours
Hire	1								
	2								
	3								
	4								
	5								
	6								
	7	91,575	2.50%	96,154	\$ 34.89	100,000	\$ 36.28	104,000	\$ 37.74
	8	93,864	2.50%	98,558	\$ 35.76	102,500	\$ 37.19	106,600	\$ 38.68
	9	96,211	2.50%	101,022	\$ 36.66	105,062	\$ 38.12	109,265	\$ 39.65
	10	98,616	2.50%	103,547	\$ 37.57	107,689	\$ 39.07	111,997	\$ 40.64
	11	101,082	2.50%	106,136	\$ 38.51	110,381	\$ 40.05	114,796	\$ 41.65
	12	103,609	2.50%	108,789	\$ 39.47	113,141	\$ 41.05	117,666	\$ 42.69
	13	106,199	2.50%	111,509	\$ 40.46	115,969	\$ 42.08	120,608	\$ 43.76
	14	108,854	2.50%	114,297	\$ 41.47	118,868	\$ 43.13	123,623	\$ 44.86
	15	111,575	2.50%	117,154	\$ 42.51	121,840	\$ 44.21	126,714	\$ 45.98
	16	114,365	2.50%	120,083	\$ 43.57	124,886	\$ 45.31	129,882	\$ 47.13
	17	117,224	2.50%	123,085	\$ 44.66	128,008	\$ 46.45	133,129	\$ 48.31
	18	120,154	2.50%	126,162	\$ 45.78	131,209	\$ 47.61	136,457	\$ 49.51
	19	123,158	2.50%	129,316	\$ 46.92	134,489	\$ 48.80	139,868	\$ 50.75
	20	126,237	2.50%	132,549	\$ 48.09	137,851	\$ 50.02	143,365	\$ 52.02

Shift Commander

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,756 Hours
Hire	1								
	2								
	3								
	4								
	5								
	6								
	7	94,685	2.50%	99,419	\$ 36.07	103,396	\$ 37.52	107,532	\$ 39.02
	8	97,052	2.50%	101,905	\$ 36.98	105,981	\$ 38.45	110,220	\$ 39.99
	9	99,478	2.50%	104,452	\$ 37.90	108,630	\$ 39.42	112,976	\$ 40.99
	10	101,965	2.50%	107,064	\$ 38.85	111,346	\$ 40.40	115,800	\$ 42.02
	11	104,515	2.50%	109,740	\$ 39.82	114,130	\$ 41.41	118,695	\$ 43.07
	12	107,127	2.50%	112,484	\$ 40.81	116,983	\$ 42.45	121,662	\$ 44.14
	13	109,806	2.50%	115,296	\$ 41.83	119,908	\$ 43.51	124,704	\$ 45.25
	14	112,551	2.50%	118,178	\$ 42.88	122,905	\$ 44.60	127,822	\$ 46.38
	15	115,364	2.50%	121,133	\$ 43.95	125,978	\$ 45.71	131,017	\$ 47.54
	16	118,249	2.50%	124,161	\$ 45.05	129,127	\$ 46.85	134,293	\$ 48.73
	17	121,205	2.50%	127,265	\$ 46.18	132,356	\$ 48.02	137,650	\$ 49.95
	18	124,235	2.50%	130,447	\$ 47.33	135,665	\$ 49.23	141,091	\$ 51.19
	19	127,341	2.50%	133,708	\$ 48.52	139,056	\$ 50.46	144,618	\$ 52.47
	20	130,524	2.50%	137,051	\$ 49.73	142,533	\$ 51.72	148,234	\$ 53.79

City of Key West IAFF Proposed Steps

Firefighter/EMS - Paramedic

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,756 Hours
Hire	1	69,315		73,462	\$ 26.66	77,815	\$ 28.23	82,399	\$ 29.90
	2	72,975	5.28%	77,340	\$ 28.06	81,924	\$ 29.73	86,750	\$ 31.48
	3	74,799	2.50%	79,274	\$ 28.76	83,972	\$ 30.47	88,918	\$ 32.26
	4	76,669	2.50%	81,256	\$ 29.48	86,071	\$ 31.23	91,141	\$ 33.07
	5	78,586	2.50%	83,287	\$ 30.22	88,223	\$ 32.01	93,420	\$ 33.90
	6	80,551	2.50%	85,369	\$ 30.98	90,428	\$ 32.81	95,755	\$ 34.74
	7	82,564	2.50%	87,504	\$ 31.75	92,689	\$ 33.63	98,149	\$ 35.61
	8	84,628	2.50%	89,691	\$ 32.54	95,006	\$ 34.47	100,603	\$ 36.50
	9	86,744	2.50%	91,933	\$ 33.36	97,381	\$ 35.33	103,118	\$ 37.42
	10	88,913	2.50%	94,232	\$ 34.19	99,816	\$ 36.22	105,696	\$ 38.35
	11	91,136	2.50%	96,588	\$ 35.05	102,311	\$ 37.12	108,338	\$ 39.31
	12	93,414	2.50%	99,002	\$ 35.92	104,869	\$ 38.05	111,047	\$ 40.29
	13	95,749	2.50%	101,477	\$ 36.82	107,491	\$ 39.00	113,823	\$ 41.30
	14	98,143	2.50%	104,014	\$ 37.74	110,178	\$ 39.98	116,669	\$ 42.33
	15	100,597	2.50%	106,615	\$ 38.68	112,933	\$ 40.98	119,585	\$ 43.39
	16	103,112	2.50%	109,280	\$ 39.65	115,756	\$ 42.00	122,575	\$ 44.48
	17	105,689	2.50%	112,012	\$ 40.64	118,650	\$ 43.05	125,639	\$ 45.59
	18	108,332	2.50%	114,812	\$ 41.66	121,616	\$ 44.13	128,780	\$ 46.73
	19	111,040	2.50%	117,683	\$ 42.70	124,656	\$ 45.23	132,000	\$ 47.90
	20	113,816	2.50%	120,625	\$ 43.77	127,773	\$ 46.36	135,300	\$ 49.09

Driver-Engineer/Rescue Lieutenant - Paramedic

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,756 Hours
Hire	1								
	2								
	3								
	4	85,205	2.50%	90,302	\$ 32.77	95,653	\$ 34.71	101,288	\$ 36.75
	5	87,335	2.50%	92,559	\$ 33.58	98,044	\$ 35.57	103,820	\$ 37.67
	6	89,519	2.50%	94,873	\$ 34.42	100,495	\$ 36.46	106,415	\$ 38.61
	7	91,756	2.50%	97,245	\$ 35.28	103,008	\$ 37.38	109,076	\$ 39.58
	8	94,050	2.50%	99,676	\$ 36.17	105,583	\$ 38.31	111,803	\$ 40.57
	9	96,402	2.50%	102,168	\$ 37.07	108,222	\$ 39.27	114,598	\$ 41.58
	10	98,812	2.50%	104,722	\$ 38.00	110,928	\$ 40.25	117,463	\$ 42.62
	11	101,282	2.50%	107,340	\$ 38.95	113,701	\$ 41.26	120,399	\$ 43.69
	12	103,814	2.50%	110,024	\$ 39.92	116,544	\$ 42.29	123,409	\$ 44.78
	13	106,409	2.50%	112,774	\$ 40.92	119,457	\$ 43.34	126,494	\$ 45.90
	14	109,070	2.50%	115,594	\$ 41.94	122,444	\$ 44.43	129,657	\$ 47.05
	15	111,796	2.50%	118,483	\$ 42.99	125,505	\$ 45.54	132,898	\$ 48.22
	16	114,591	2.50%	121,446	\$ 44.07	128,642	\$ 46.68	136,221	\$ 49.43
	17	117,456	2.50%	124,482	\$ 45.17	131,858	\$ 47.84	139,626	\$ 50.66
	18	120,392	2.50%	127,594	\$ 46.30	135,155	\$ 49.04	143,117	\$ 51.93
	19	123,402	2.50%	130,784	\$ 47.45	138,534	\$ 50.27	146,695	\$ 53.23
	20	126,487	2.50%	134,053	\$ 48.64	141,997	\$ 51.52	150,362	\$ 54.56

Captain - Paramedic

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,756 Hours
Hire	1								
	2								
	3								
	4								
	5								
	6								
	7	97,986	2.50%	103,846	\$ 37.68	110,000	\$ 39.91	116,480	\$ 42.26
	8	100,436	2.50%	106,442	\$ 38.62	112,750	\$ 40.91	119,392	\$ 43.32
	9	102,947	2.50%	109,103	\$ 39.59	115,569	\$ 41.93	122,377	\$ 44.40
	10	105,520	2.50%	111,831	\$ 40.58	118,458	\$ 42.98	125,436	\$ 45.51
	11	108,158	2.50%	114,627	\$ 41.59	121,419	\$ 44.06	128,572	\$ 46.65
	12	110,862	2.50%	117,492	\$ 42.63	124,455	\$ 45.16	131,786	\$ 47.82
	13	113,634	2.50%	120,430	\$ 43.70	127,566	\$ 46.29	135,081	\$ 49.01
	14	116,475	2.50%	123,440	\$ 44.79	130,755	\$ 47.44	138,458	\$ 50.24
	15	119,386	2.50%	126,526	\$ 45.91	134,024	\$ 48.63	141,919	\$ 51.49
	16	122,371	2.50%	129,689	\$ 47.06	137,375	\$ 49.85	145,467	\$ 52.78
	17	125,430	2.50%	132,932	\$ 48.23	140,809	\$ 51.09	149,104	\$ 54.10
	18	128,566	2.50%	136,255	\$ 49.44	144,329	\$ 52.37	152,832	\$ 55.45
	19	131,780	2.50%	139,661	\$ 50.68	147,938	\$ 53.68	156,652	\$ 56.84
	20	135,075	2.50%	143,153	\$ 51.94	151,636	\$ 55.02	160,569	\$ 58.26

Shift Commander - Paramedic

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,756 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,756 Hours
Hire	1								
	2								
	3								
	4								
	5								
	6								
	7	101,313	2.50%	107,373	\$ 38.96	113,736	\$ 41.27	120,436	\$ 43.70
	8	103,846	2.50%	110,057	\$ 39.93	116,579	\$ 42.30	123,447	\$ 44.79
	9	106,442	2.50%	112,809	\$ 40.93	119,493	\$ 43.36	126,533	\$ 45.91
	10	109,103	2.50%	115,629	\$ 41.96	122,481	\$ 44.44	129,696	\$ 47.06
	11	111,831	2.50%	118,519	\$ 43.00	125,543	\$ 45.55	132,938	\$ 48.24
	12	114,626	2.50%	121,482	\$ 44.08	128,681	\$ 46.69	136,262	\$ 49.44
	13	117,492	2.50%	124,520	\$ 45.18	131,898	\$ 47.86	139,668	\$ 50.68
	14	120,429	2.50%	127,633	\$ 46.31	135,196	\$ 49.06	143,160	\$ 51.94
	15	123,440	2.50%	130,823	\$ 47.47	138,576	\$ 50.28	146,739	\$ 53.24
	16	126,526	2.50%	134,094	\$ 48.66	142,040	\$ 51.54	150,408	\$ 54.57
	17	129,689	2.50%	137,446	\$ 49.87	145,591	\$ 52.83	154,168	\$ 55.94
	18	132,931	2.50%	140,882	\$ 51.12	149,231	\$ 54.15	158,022	\$ 57.34
	19	136,255	2.50%	144,404	\$ 52.40	152,962	\$ 55.50	161,973	\$ 58.77
	20	139,661	2.50%	148,015	\$ 53.71	156,786	\$ 56.89	166,022	\$ 60.24

City of Key West IAFF Proposed Steps

Fire Inspector

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,080 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,080 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,080 Hours
Hire	1								
	2								
	3								
	4	79,631	2.50%	83,613	\$ 40.20	86,957	\$ 41.81	90,435	\$ 43.48
	5	81,622	2.50%	85,703	\$ 41.20	89,131	\$ 42.85	92,696	\$ 44.57
	6	83,662	2.50%	87,845	\$ 42.23	91,359	\$ 43.92	95,014	\$ 45.68
	7	85,754	2.50%	90,042	\$ 43.29	93,643	\$ 45.02	97,389	\$ 46.82
	8	87,898	2.50%	92,293	\$ 44.37	95,984	\$ 46.15	99,824	\$ 47.99
	9	90,095	2.50%	94,600	\$ 45.48	98,384	\$ 47.30	102,319	\$ 49.19
	10	92,348	2.50%	96,965	\$ 46.62	100,844	\$ 48.48	104,877	\$ 50.42
	11	94,656	2.50%	99,389	\$ 47.78	103,365	\$ 49.69	107,499	\$ 51.68
	12	97,023	2.50%	101,874	\$ 48.98	105,949	\$ 50.94	110,187	\$ 52.97
	13	99,448	2.50%	104,421	\$ 50.20	108,597	\$ 52.21	112,941	\$ 54.30
	14	101,934	2.50%	107,031	\$ 51.46	111,312	\$ 53.52	115,765	\$ 55.66
	15	104,483	2.50%	109,707	\$ 52.74	114,095	\$ 54.85	118,659	\$ 57.05
	16	107,095	2.50%	112,450	\$ 54.06	116,948	\$ 56.22	121,625	\$ 58.47
	17	109,772	2.50%	115,261	\$ 55.41	119,871	\$ 57.63	124,666	\$ 59.94
	18	112,517	2.50%	118,142	\$ 56.80	122,868	\$ 59.07	127,783	\$ 61.43
	19	115,329	2.50%	121,096	\$ 58.22	125,940	\$ 60.55	130,977	\$ 62.97
	20	118,213	2.50%	124,123	\$ 59.67	129,088	\$ 62.06	134,252	\$ 64.54

Captain Administrative/Fire Inspector

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,080 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,080 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,080 Hours
Hire	1								
	2								
	3								
	4								
	5								
	6								
	7	91,575	2.50%	96,154	\$ 46.23	100,000	\$ 48.08	104,000	\$ 50.00
	8	93,864	2.50%	98,558	\$ 47.38	102,500	\$ 49.28	106,600	\$ 51.25
	9	96,211	2.50%	101,022	\$ 48.57	105,062	\$ 50.51	109,265	\$ 52.53
	10	98,616	2.50%	103,547	\$ 49.78	107,689	\$ 51.77	111,997	\$ 53.84
	11	101,082	2.50%	106,136	\$ 51.03	110,381	\$ 53.07	114,796	\$ 55.19
	12	103,609	2.50%	108,789	\$ 52.30	113,141	\$ 54.39	117,666	\$ 56.57
	13	106,199	2.50%	111,509	\$ 53.61	115,969	\$ 55.75	120,608	\$ 57.98
	14	108,854	2.50%	114,297	\$ 54.95	118,868	\$ 57.15	123,623	\$ 59.43
	15	111,575	2.50%	117,154	\$ 56.32	121,840	\$ 58.58	126,714	\$ 60.92
	16	114,365	2.50%	120,083	\$ 57.73	124,886	\$ 60.04	129,882	\$ 62.44
	17	117,224	2.50%	123,085	\$ 59.18	128,008	\$ 61.54	133,129	\$ 64.00
	18	120,154	2.50%	126,162	\$ 60.65	131,209	\$ 63.08	136,457	\$ 65.60
	19	123,158	2.50%	129,316	\$ 62.17	134,489	\$ 64.66	139,868	\$ 67.24
	20	126,237	2.50%	132,549	\$ 63.73	137,851	\$ 66.27	143,365	\$ 68.93

Fire Inspector - Paramedic

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,080 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,080 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,080 Hours
Hire	1								
	2								
	3								
	4	85,205	2.50%	90,302	\$ 43.41	95,653	\$ 45.99	101,288	\$ 48.70
	5	87,335	2.50%	92,559	\$ 44.50	98,044	\$ 47.14	103,820	\$ 49.91
	6	89,519	2.50%	94,873	\$ 45.61	100,495	\$ 48.31	106,415	\$ 51.16
	7	91,756	2.50%	97,245	\$ 46.75	103,008	\$ 49.52	109,076	\$ 52.44
	8	94,050	2.50%	99,676	\$ 47.92	105,583	\$ 50.76	111,803	\$ 53.75
	9	96,402	2.50%	102,168	\$ 49.12	108,222	\$ 52.03	114,598	\$ 55.09
	10	98,812	2.50%	104,722	\$ 50.35	110,928	\$ 53.33	117,463	\$ 56.47
	11	101,282	2.50%	107,340	\$ 51.61	113,701	\$ 54.66	120,399	\$ 57.88
	12	103,814	2.50%	110,024	\$ 52.90	116,544	\$ 56.03	123,409	\$ 59.33
	13	106,409	2.50%	112,774	\$ 54.22	119,457	\$ 57.43	126,494	\$ 60.81
	14	109,070	2.50%	115,594	\$ 55.57	122,444	\$ 58.87	129,657	\$ 62.33
	15	111,796	2.50%	118,483	\$ 56.96	125,505	\$ 60.34	132,898	\$ 63.89
	16	114,591	2.50%	121,446	\$ 58.39	128,642	\$ 61.85	136,221	\$ 65.49
	17	117,456	2.50%	124,482	\$ 59.85	131,858	\$ 63.39	139,626	\$ 67.13
	18	120,392	2.50%	127,594	\$ 61.34	135,155	\$ 64.98	143,117	\$ 68.81
	19	123,402	2.50%	130,784	\$ 62.88	138,534	\$ 66.60	146,695	\$ 70.53
	20	126,487	2.50%	134,053	\$ 64.45	141,997	\$ 68.27	150,362	\$ 72.29

Captain Administrative/Fire Inspector - Paramedic

		FY2025	Step %	5% COLA 10/01/25	2,080 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/26	2,080 Hours	4% COLA 10/01/27	2,080 Hours
Hire	1								
	2								
	3								
	4								
	5								
	6								
	7	97,986	2.50%	100,961	\$ 48.54	110,000	\$ 52.88	116,480	\$ 56.00
	8	100,436	2.50%	103,485	\$ 49.75	112,750	\$ 54.21	119,392	\$ 57.40
	9	102,947	2.50%	106,073	\$ 51.00	115,569	\$ 55.56	122,377	\$ 58.83
	10	105,520	2.50%	108,724	\$ 52.27	118,458	\$ 56.95	125,436	\$ 60.31
	11	108,158	2.50%	111,443	\$ 53.58	121,419	\$ 58.37	128,572	\$ 61.81
	12	110,862	2.50%	114,229	\$ 54.92	124,455	\$ 59.83	131,786	\$ 63.36
	13	113,634	2.50%	117,084	\$ 56.29	127,566	\$ 61.33	135,081	\$ 64.94
	14	116,475	2.50%	120,011	\$ 57.70	130,755	\$ 62.86	138,458	\$ 66.57
	15	119,386	2.50%	123,012	\$ 59.14	134,024	\$ 64.43	141,919	\$ 68.23
	16	122,371	2.50%	126,087	\$ 60.62	137,375	\$ 66.05	145,467	\$ 69.94
	17	125,430	2.50%	129,239	\$ 62.13	140,809	\$ 67.70	149,104	\$ 71.68
	18	128,566	2.50%	132,470	\$ 63.69	144,329	\$ 69.39	152,832	\$ 73.48
	19	131,780	2.50%	135,782	\$ 65.28	147,938	\$ 71.12	156,652	\$ 75.31
	20	135,075	2.50%	139,176	\$ 66.91	151,636	\$ 72.90	160,569	\$ 77.20

SUBJECT: DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE POLICY

I. PURPOSE

The City of Key West (“the City”) has a compelling obligation to eliminate alcohol and illegal drug use in its workplace because of its responsibility for the safe, effective and efficient delivery of public services. Drug or alcohol use in the workplace may result in or contribute to on-the-job accidents, motor vehicle accidents and personal injury to City employees and the public. The illegal use of drugs by City employees, on or off-duty, and the state of being under the influence of alcohol while on duty are inconsistent with both the law-abiding behavior expected of all citizens and the special trust placed in City employees as public servants. Moreover, City employees who illegally use drugs tend to be less productive, less reliable and prone to greater absenteeism than their fellow employees. This impairs the efficiency of City departments, creates a greater burden on reliable employees and undermines public confidence in all City employees.

A. POLICY STATEMENT

It is the policy of the City to maintain a drug-free workplace. It is a condition of employment with the City that employees refrain from reporting to work or working with the presence of drugs and/or alcohol in his or her body and for each City employee to abide by this policy. In addition to possible disciplinary action, up to and including termination as a result of any violation of this Drug-Free Workplace Policy, an employee injured in the course and scope of employment who refuses to submit to a test for drugs and/or alcohol, or is tested and has a positive confirmation of drug use or alcohol, forfeits his or her eligibility for medical and indemnity benefits under the Workers Compensation Act.

B. LEGAL AUTHORITY

The unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession or use of a controlled substance in the workplace is prohibited. Sections 440.101 and 440.102 of the Florida Statutes set forth the requirements with which the City’s drug-free workplace policy must comply. The City is also subject to the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 and to the U.S. Department of Transportation’s Federal Transit Authority (“FTA”) drug and alcohol testing requirements with respect to certain employees (Alcohol and Drug Testing Program for Commercial Motor Vehicle Drivers). This FTA program is separate from this policy.

C. EFFECTIVE DATE POLICY

The City’s Drug-Free Workplace Policy is effective June 2, 1999. All new employees will be provided with this policy on their hire date. It shall be the responsibility of the personnel to familiarize themselves with this policy.

II. TYPES OF DRUG TESTS

A. CITY AUTHORITY TO TEST

The authority to order an applicant or employee to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test pursuant to this policy is vested in the City and its officials acting in the interests of the City.

B. REQUIRED TYPES OF DRUG TESTS

For purposes of this policy, the term “drug” also includes alcohol unless specified otherwise.

Employees and applicant will be subjected to the following types of drug tests:

1. Job Applicant Testing

- a. “Mandatory-testing position”¹ All applicants for ~~positions with~~ safety-sensitive positions the City must undergo a pre-employment drug test and must pass a 10-panel drug test before he or she is hired as an employee and before completing the City’s orientation process. The list of safety-sensitive positions would include, but are not limited to, a job assignment that requires the employee to carry a firearm, work closely with an employee who carries a firearm, perform life-threatening procedures, work with heavy or dangerous machinery, work as a safety inspector, work with children, work with confidential information or documents pertaining to criminal investigations, work with controlled substances, or a job assignment that requires an employee security background check, pursuant to s. 110.1127, or a job assignment in which a momentary lapse in attention could result in injury or death to another person.² The applicants whom the City intends to hire will be given a conditional offer of employment and requested to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test. Refusal to submit to the drug and/or alcohol test or a positive confirmed test result will result in rejection of the applicant for employment at that time. The City may choose not to perform applicant alcohol testing for some classifications.
- b. Job applicant drug testing does not require authorization from a City official or representative.

2. Reasonable Suspicion Testing

- a. An employee may be required to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test when the City has a reasonable suspicion that an employee is using or has used drugs or alcohol in violation of City policy. “Reasonable suspicion” will be determined from specific, objective, and articulable facts and reasonable inferences drawn from those facts in light of experience.
- b. Among other things, such facts and inferences may be based upon:
 - Observable phenomena while at work, such as direct observation of drug and/or alcohol use or the physical symptoms or manifestations of being under the influence of a drug or alcohol;
 - Abnormal conduct, irrational or incoherent mental state or erratic behavior while at work or a significant deterioration in work performance;
 - Increased inattentiveness, absentmindedness, drowsiness, or mood swings;
 - Increased unexplained absenteeism;

¹Revised 8/8/2014

²Revised 5/11/2015

- Abnormal conduct, irrational or incoherent mental state or erratic behavior while at work or a significant deterioration in work performance;
- Increased inattentiveness, absentmindedness, drowsiness, or mood swings;
- Increased unexplained absenteeism;
- Impairment of motor functions and lack of physical coordination;
- A report of drug and/or alcohol use, provided by a reliable and credible source;
- Evidence that an individual has tampered with a drug and/or alcohol test during his or her employment with the City;
- Information that the employee has caused, contributed to or been involved in an accident while at work;
- Evidence that the employee has used, possessed, sold, solicited or transferred drugs and/or alcohol while working or while on the City's premises, or while operating City vehicle(s), machinery or equipment.
- Discovery of drugs and/or alcohol in the workplace; or
- Employee's confirmation of drug and/or alcohol use.

The City may decide not to test all employees involved in work related accidents. If an employee is injured on the job pursuant to F.S. Chapter 440, the employee shall immediately upon notification submit to a drug test pursuant to F.S. 440.102.¹ ~~However, it will test all employees where there is some information or evidence upon which a reasonable person could conclude that the employee was at fault to some degree, either by the employee's action or inaction.~~¹ This decision is to be made as a part of the reasonable suspicion determination by a Department Director his or her designee or Assistant City Manager or City Manager (a higher ranking employee).

- c. If an employee has information upon which there may be a reasonable suspicion of another employee's drug and/or alcohol use in violation of City policy, he or she must immediately report the information to his or her supervisor, the Director of that Department, that Director's designee or to the Assistant City Manager or City Manager (a higher ranking City employee.) If a supervisor has information upon which there may be a reasonable suspicion of an employee's drug and/or alcohol use in violation of City policy, he or she must immediately report the information to his or her supervisor, the Director of the Department, that Director's designee or to the Assistant City Manager or City Manager (a higher ranking City employee). If a Department Director has information upon which there may be a reasonable suspicion of an employee's drug and/or alcohol use in violation of City policy, he or she must immediately report the information to the Assistant City Manager or City Manager (a higher ranking City employee.) The higher ranking city employee must consider the information the employee, supervisor and Department Director reported in making his/her own reasonable suspicion determination.

¹ Revised May 28, 2019

- d. If the higher ranking City employee concludes that a reasonable suspicion testing is justified, he or she must consult with the Director of Human Resources, a City attorney or both, prior to his or her final reasonable suspicion determination. Reasonable suspicion testing may only be authorized by a Department Director, his or her designee or by the Assistant City Manager or City Manager. The order for an employee to submit to reasonable suspicion testing may be given by any supervisory employee the City deems appropriate.
- e. The City must document, in writing, the circumstances which formed the basis of its reasonable suspicion testing within five (5) days after the testing.
- f. Employees shall be transported to the specimen collection site by his/her supervisor.

3. Routine Fitness for Duty Testing

- a. An employee may be asked to submit to a drug and/or alcohol testing as part of a routinely-scheduled fitness for duty medical examination that is either part of the City's established policy or that is scheduled routinely for all members of an employment classification or group.
- b. Drug and/or alcohol testing which is conducted pursuant to a routine fitness for duty examination does not require a particular authorization form; any designated City official beyond that required for the examination itself.

4. Follow-Up Testing

- a. If an employee enters an employee assistance program or rehabilitation program for drug and/or alcohol related problems, the employee may, at the City's discretion, be required to submit to a follow-up drug and/or alcohol test on a quarterly, semiannual or annual basis for two (2) years thereafter. Advance notice of the follow-up testing will not be given to the employee.
- b. Except to the extent modified by other City policies or collective bargaining agreements, follow-up testing may be authorized by Department Director, his or her designee or by Assistant City Manager or City Manager.

5. Random Testing

- a. Employees in the following categories are subject to random, unannounced drug and/or alcohol testing:
 - Certified Firefighters and Sworn Police Officers: Public safety positions are subject to random drug testing pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Police Department and Fire Department Policies and Procedures. The illegal use of a controlled substance by a certified firefighter or a police officer sworn to enforce the law is a criminal act that directly threatens the integrity and effectiveness of the Fire and Police Departments. Certified firefighters and sworn police officers who test positive for illegal drugs in a random test are subject to discharge.
 - Commercial Drivers: Employees subject to the drug and/or alcohol testing requirements of the Department of Transportation are subject to random drug and alcohol testing. Drug and/or alcohol use by employees in safety-sensitive positions is dangerous, illegal, and could result in or contribute to on-the-job accidents, motor vehicle accidents, and personal injury to City employees and the public. Covered commercial drivers who test positive for illegal drugs and/or alcohol in a random test are subject to discharge.

6. Property Damage/Injury

- a. If an employee is involved in any accident, incident, or occurrence when there is damage to property, or injury irrespective of whether there exists reasonable suspicion and irrespective of whether a worker's compensation claim is filed or medical care is sought.²

² Revised June 19, 2020

III. DRUG SPECIMEN COLLECTION SITE

A. Drug Specimen Collection Site

As of the effective date of this policy, the specimen collection site for the City is:

Key West Urgent Care
1501 Government Road
Key West, FL 33040
Phone: 305-295-7550

This drug collection sight is subject to change and is dependent upon which facility the City contracts as its drug specimen collection site.

B. Testing Laboratories

Quest Diagnostics
3175 Presidential Dr.
Atlanta, GA 30340
Phone: 800-877-7484

Testing of specimens for the presence of illegal drugs and/or alcohol is performed by the following laboratory, which is licensed by the Florida Agency of Health Care Administration:

This testing laboratory is subject to change and is dependent upon which facility the City contracts as its testing laboratory.

C. Methods of Testing

1. Tests for the presence of illegal drugs will use urine specimens.
2. Tests for the presence of alcohol will use blood specimens.
3. A split sample testing shall be taken by the drug specimen collection site. The primary specimen will be tested by the testing laboratory. The split specimen will be sealed and reserved in case of appeal.

D. Drugs Tested

The drug test is a 10-panel drug screen test. You may be tested for any or all of the following*:

Alcohol: Beer, Wine, Liquor, Distilled Sprits, Malt Beverages, etc.

<u>Amphetamines:</u>	Speed, Uppers, Biphphetamine, Desoxyn, Dexedrine, etc.
<u>Cannabinoids:</u>	Marijuana, Hashish, Hash, Hash Oil, Pot, Joint, Reefer, Spleaf, Roach, Grass, Weed, ect.
<u>Cocaine:</u>	Coke, Blow, Snow, Flake, Crack, ect.
<u>Opiates:</u>	Heroin, Codeine, Morphine, Opium, Dover's Powder, Paragoric, Parepectolin, ect.
<u>Phencyclidine:</u>	PCP, Angel Dust, Hog, ect.
<u>Methaqualone:</u>	Not legal by prescription
<u>Barbiturates:</u>	Phenobarbital, Tuinal, Amytal, Nembutal, Seconal, Lotusate, Fiorinal, Fioricet, Esgic, Butisol, Mebaral, Butabarbital, Butalbital, Phrenilin, Traid, ect.
<u>Benzodiazepines:</u>	Ativan, Azene, Clonopin, Dalmane, Diazepam, Librium, Xanax, Serax, Tranxene, Valium, Verstran, Halcion, Paxipam, Restoril, Centrax, ect..
<u>Methadone:</u>	Dolophine, Metadose, ect.
<u>Propoxyphene:</u>	Darvocet, Darvon N, Dolene, ect.

E. Reporting Use of Prescription and/or Non- Prescription Medications

An employee or job applicant may confidentially report information concerning the use of prescription and/or non-prescription medications to the specimen collection site before testing and to the Medical Review Office (MRO) after testing. The presence of prescription and/or non-prescription medications in the body may affect the outcome of the test.

*Cutoff levels to be used in testing are those established by Standard Industrial Drug Panel 10

The City's MRO is:

Dr. Seth Portnoy
3300 University Drive #903
Coral Springs, FL 33065
Phone: 954-341-2525

The City's certified MRO is subject to change and is dependent upon which MRO the City contracts to perform MRO services.

F. Right to Consult Laboratory

All applicants and employees may consult with the testing laboratory or MRO for technical information regarding the effect of prescription and non-prescription medication on drug testing. Any consultation by and applicant or employee with the testing laboratory or MRO for the purpose of gaining technical information shall be confidential. An MRO must apply technical information to any employee who fails a drug test.

G. Over the Counter and Prescription Drugs Which Could Alter or Affect Drug Testing Results

The following is a list of over the counter and prescription drugs which could alter or affect drug test results (NOTE: Due to the large or obscure brand names and the constant marketing of new products, this list cannot be and is not intended to be all inclusive):

Alcohol:	All liquid medications containing ethyl alcohol (ethanol). Please read the label for alcohol content. As an example, Vicks Nyquil is 25% (50 proof) ethyl alcohol, Comtrex is 20% (40 proof), Contract Severe Cold Formula Night Strength is 25% (50 proof), and Listerine is 26.9% (54 Proof)
Amphetamines:	Obetrol, Biphetamine, Desoxyn, Dexedrine, Didrex, Ionamine, Fastin
Cannabinoids:	Marinol (Dronabinol, THC)
Cocaine:	Cocaine HCI topical solution (Roxanne)
Phencyclidine:	Not legal by prescription
Methaqualone:	Not legal by prescription
Opiates:	Paregoric, Parepectolin, Donnagel PG, Morphine, Tylenol with Codeine, Empirin with Codeine, APAP with Codeine, Aspirin with Codeine, Robitussin AC, Guaiatuss AC, Novahistine DH, Novahistine Expectorant, Diluadid (Hydromorphone), M-S Contin and Roxanol (morphine sulfate), Percodan, Vicodin, Tussi-Organidin, ect.

Barbiturates:	Phenobarbital, Tuinal, Amytal, Nembutal, Seconal, Lotusate, Fiorinal, Fioricet, Esgic, Butisol, Mebaral, Butabarbital, Butalbital, Phrenilin, Triad, ect.
Benzodiazepines:	Ativan, Azene, Clonopin, Dalmane, Diazepam, Librium, Xanax, Serax, Tranxene, Valium, Verstran, Halcion, Paxipam, Restoril, Centrax, ect.
Methadone:	Dolophine, Metadose, ect.
Propoxyphene:	Darvocet, Darvon N, Dolene, ect.

H. Test Results

1. Negative Test Results

- a) If the applicant or employee's primary specimen tests negative, the MRO will inform the City of the negative result.

2. Positive Test Results

- a) The applicant or employee whose primary specimen tests positive has the right to contest the positive result. The employee or applicant who receives a positive test result may explain or contest the result to the MRO within five (5) working days after receipt of written notification of the positive result. If the employee's or applicant's explanation or challenge is unsatisfactory to the MRO, the MRO must report a positive confirmed test result back to the City and employee or applicant and include a copy of the positive test result.
- b) Within five (5) working days after receipt of the positive confirmed test result from the MRO, the City will notify the employee or applicant in writing of the positive test result, the consequences of such result and the options available to the employee or applicant.

I. Challenging a Positive Test Result

1. Notification of Challenge and Information Presented

- a) Any employee or applicant challenging a positive test must notify the City and the MRO of such challenge in writing within five (5) working days of receiving the City's notification letter. If employee or applicant does not notify the City and the MRO of his or her challenge in writing within that 5 working day time period, the employee or applicant's challenge to the positive test result is barred. Employee's written challenge must include his or her desire to have the split specimen tested at a different lab. This split specimen test and all costs associated with the challenge to the split specimen test result are at the applicant's or employee's exclusive expense. The City shall be notified of the split

specimen test result by the MRO in writing and shall receive a copy of the result.

b) If the primary specimen tests positive and the split specimen tests negative, the applicant or employee shall have five (5) working days to present information that contests the result of the primary specimen to the City, which may include the results of the split specimen. After the City's review of the information presented, the City will advise the applicant or employee of its finding in writing.

2. Administrative Challenge

a) If an employee is involved in an accident and denied medical and/or indemnity benefits, he or she may administratively challenge the action by filing a Claim for Benefits with a Judge of Compensation Claims.

J. Confidentiality of Drug Test Results

All drug and/or alcohol test results and information, interviews, reports, statements and memoranda, written or otherwise received or produced as a result of the drug and/or alcohol testing will be maintained in a confidential manner by the City. Further, information on drug and/or alcohol test results may not be used in any criminal proceeding against employee or job applicant. There are some exceptions to this confidentiality:

1. Written Consent

a) The City will release information concerning drug and/or alcohol test results if it receives a written consent form signed voluntarily by the person tested.

2. Compelled by Court Order

a) Drug and/or alcohol test results may be released without consent if compelled by a hearing officer or a court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to an appeal under this statute or if it is deemed appropriate disciplinary proceeding.

3. Legal Actions

a) The City, its agents, MRO and drug-testing laboratory may have access to employee drug and/or alcohol test information or use such information when consulting with legal counsel in connection with actions brought under this statute or when the information is relevant to a defense in a civil or administrative matter.

IV. ENFORCEMENT OF DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE POLICY

A. Pending Test Results

An employee who undergoes reasonable suspicion testing, routine fitness for duty testing, follow-up testing or random testing may be placed on administrative leave with pay pending confirmation of his or her test results. This decision is at the City Manager or his or her designee's sole discretion.

B. Action the City May Take Based Upon a Positive Test Result

1. An applicant with a positive drug and/or alcohol test result will not be hired for the position applied for or any other position for which he or she has contemporaneously applied.

2. An employee with a positive drug and/or alcohol test result is subject to disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. The City may take one or more of the following actions:

- Require the employee to attend educational seminars and courses and/or participate in an employee assistance program;
- Require the employee to be evaluated by a Substance Abuse Professional (SAP)
- Require the employee to attend a rehabilitation program;
- Discipline, including, but not limited to, suspension (if permitted by the FLSA), probationary employment, transfer to another or less hazardous position and/or reduction in compensation;
- Discharge from employment;
- Employees discipline pursuant to this policy will be given reasonable notice of the right to a disciplinary hearing (by the Department Director or Direct or Human Resources) in writing. The City's Policy and Procedures Manual, Civil Service Rules and collective bargaining agreements will be observed where applicable.

3. If an employee is injured in the scope of his or her employment and drug tests and/or other medical evidence indicate the presence of illegal drugs and/or alcohol in the employee's body at the time of the accident, the employee may be required to forfeit any medical or indemnity benefits available under the Florida Worker's Compensation statute and may also forfeit eligibility for unemployment benefits. These penalties are in addition to any other penalties that may apply either under this policy or under applicable law.

C. Refusal to Take Drug Test When Required

1. Job Applicant Refusal

a) Any job applicant who refuses to submit to drug and/or alcohol testing, or who alters, adulterates or otherwise interferes with drug testing collection, samples, or analysis is immediately disqualified from City employment.

2. Employee Refusal

a) Any employee who refuses to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test when required under this policy, or who alters, adulterates or otherwise interferes with drug testing collection, samples, or analysis is subject to termination and may forfeit eligibility for medical and/or indemnity benefits under Florida's Worker's Compensation statute.

3. Injured Employee's Refusal

a) Any injured employee who refuses to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test when required under this policy, or who alters, adulterates or otherwise interferes with drug testing collection, samples or analysis is subject to termination and may forfeit eligibility for medical and/or indemnity benefits under Florida's Worker's Compensation statute.

D. Conviction for Violating Drug or Alcohol Statute

It is a condition of employment with the City that any employee who pleads guilty, pleads "nolo contendere" or is convicted of any criminal drug and/or alcohol violation occurring either in the workplace or off-the-job, must report such conviction to his supervisor within five (5) calendar days of such conviction. Any employee who pleads guilty, pleads "nolo contendere" or is convicted of any criminal drug and/or alcohol violation may be disciplined or terminated.

E. Off- Duty Hours

Any City employee who is called in to work during off-duty or unscheduled work hours must notify his or her supervisor if he or she is unable to perform his or her job duties due to alcohol consumption before reporting for work. The City may accept the City employee's admission of alcohol consumption during off-duty or unscheduled work hours and may not require his or her attendance for work.

F. Voluntary Identification

The City will not discharge, discipline or discriminate against an employee solely upon an employee's voluntarily seeking treatment for a drug and/or alcohol-related problem if the employee has not previously tested positive for drug and/or alcohol use, entered an

employee assistance program for drug and/or alcohol-related problems or entered a drug and/or alcohol rehabilitation program while employed with the City (excluding sworn law enforcement officers).

If an employee voluntarily identifies a drug and/or alcohol-related problem and the employee has not previously tested positive for drug and/or alcohol use, entered an employee assistance program or drug rehabilitation program while employed with the City and has specified above, he or she shall enter into a licensed substance abuse program under the guidance of a SAP. The employee will be evaluated by the SAP for the purpose of determining what assistance, if any, the employee needs in resolving drug and/or alcohol-related problems. Any treatment program the SAP prescribes shall be at the employee's expense unless covered by the City's insurance program. While undergoing treatment, the employee, if eligible, will be placed on FMLA (Family/ Medical Leave) and allowed to use sick leave, annual leave or any paid leave to maintain his or her usual compensation and benefits.

The SAP will determine if and when the employee is fit to return to duty. Upon the SAP's fitness determination, the employee must do the following:

- a) Pass a follow-up drug test
- b) Sign and comply with all requirements of a Re-entry Contract.

If an employee executed a Re-entry Contract within the previous twenty-four (24) months, and he or she tests positive for drugs and/or alcohol and his or her challenge to the test, if any, is unsatisfactory or he or she refuses to submit to follow-up testing, he or she will be terminated.

G. Rehabilitation/ Substance Abuse Professionals

If you are experiencing problems with drugs and/or alcohol, you are encouraged to contract a rehabilitation facility and/or substance abuse professional, which provides confidential drug and/or alcohol counseling and referral to residential or support treatment centers for all City employees and their eligible family members. The following is a representative sampling of drug and/or alcohol abuse counseling and treatment programs available in this area:

Key West/ Lower Keys

Care Center for Mental Health
1205 Fourth Street
Key West, FL 33040
(305) 292-6843

DePoo Chemical Dependency Unit
1200 Kennedy Drive
Key West, FL 33040
(305) 294-5531 ext. 8330

Marathon/ Middle Keys

Guidance Clinic of the Middle Keys
3000 41st Street, Ocean
Marathon, FL 33050

(305) 434-9000

Tavernier/ Upper Keys

Care Center for Mental Health
92140 U.S. Highway
Tavernier, FL 33070
(305) 853-3284

South Miami Area

South Miami Hospital Addiction Treatment Program
6200 SW 73rd Street
Miami, FL 33143
(305) 662-8118

H. Administration and Oversight of Policy

1. Human Resources Department

The City's Drug-Free Workplace Policy is administered by the City's Department of Human Resources.

2. Drug- Free Workplace Steering Committee

A labor/management steering committee shall be established under the direction of the Department of Human Resources. Participants will include members from City management, City non-union employees and one representative from each recognized bargaining unit.

The purpose of the committee is to ensure consistent application of policy as appropriate to the work group (i.e. Police, Fire, Safety Sensitive employees, Recreation employees, ect.). This committee shall operate in an advisory capacity to Human Resources and shall recommend policy and procedure changes when necessary. Opinions and decisions recommended by this committee are never binding on the City. Participation on the drug free workplace steering committee will ensure that employees work in partnership with the City to effectively implement the objectives set forth herein.

LAST CHANCE AGREEMENT

The City of Key West ("City"), the _____ ("Union") and _____ ("Employee") of the City enter into this Last Chance Agreement this ____ day of _____, 20___. The City, Union and Employee will be collectively referred to as the "Parties". For the purposes of this agreement, the term "drug" includes alcohol.

A positive drug test (or refusal to submit to drug test) was returned on _____.

The City and Employee enter into this Last Chance Agreement subject to the following:

Prior to returning to work for the City, Employee shall:

- 1) Provide City with "Release to Work Statement" to be completed by a City approved Substance Abuse Professional (SAP")
- 2) Submit to a drug and/or alcohol test with a City approved testing facility and provide City with documents establishing a confirmed negative drug test result.
- 3) Agree to follow the rehabilitation program prescribed by the SAP.

Upon enrollment and/or completion of the prescribed rehabilitation program and return to work:

- 1) Employee will be reinstated to his or her former position if he or she returns to work within ninety (90) days of taking leave.
- 2) Employee shall be on probation for twenty-four (24) months following his or her return to work.
- 3) During Employee's twenty-four (24) month probationary period, Employee will be required to submit to a follow-up drug and/or alcohol test on a monthly, quarterly or semiannual basis. Advance notice of the follow-up testing will not be given to Employee.
- 4) Employee's failure to submit to any unannounced drug and/or alcohol test during the twenty-four (24) month probationary period shall be a breach of this agreement and shall constitute Employee's immediate voluntary resignation from employment.
- 5) If employee tests positive for unauthorized drug and/or alcohol use anytime after the execution of this agreement, Employee shall be terminated.

The Parties agree that violation of any provision of this Last Chance Agreement shall be grounds for Employee's termination.

City Manager/ Designee

Employee

Union